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Dear shareholders,

For the 12 months ended 31 December 2010, ENR 
Russia Invest SA (“ENR” or the “Company”) and 
its subsidiaries generated CHF 2.29 million in rev-
enue. With total expenses of CHF 2.94 million, we 
recorded a consolidated net loss of CHF 0.65 mil-
lion for the reporting period. During 2010 our 
consolidated total assets grew to CHF 133.95 mil-
lion and our IFRS based consolidated net asset 
value at year-end was CHF 105.49 million. 

During the reporting period the USD declined by 
some 9.2% against our reporting currency, the 
Swiss Franc. Furthermore, the Rouble also de-
clined by some 12.5% against the Swiss Franc. 
This had a negative impact on the CHF value of 
our Russian assets. Through an active hedging 
strategy we have limited the negative impact of 
the adverse currency movements. 

In 2010 we have invested some CHF 7.31 million 
into fixed income instruments of known Russian 
companies. On the private equity front ENR 
played a leading role in negotiating a settlement 
agreement between Naftrans Limited (“Naftrans”) 
and a debtor for the recovery of funds owing to 
Naftrans and its shareholders. As a result the  
ENR shareholding in Naftrans increased. In late 
2010, we also received USD 6.79 million in cash 
from Naftrans out of a first settlement payment. 
Our fixed income instruments will continue to 
provide ENR with satisfactory returns and in-
vestment exposure to the oil and gas, financial 
services, transport and retail sectors of the Rus-
sian economy and to the Baltic region. Electric-

ity sector company shares may benefit from 
positive 2011 re-ratings in Russia. ENR remains 
actively involved in the disposal process of the 
remaining Naftrans asset and further cash may 
be forthcoming in 2011 from disposal proceeds 
and settlement payments.

We have also considered a number of potential 
new private equity investment opportunities in 
2010 and pursued a possible investment into a 
business collecting and investing in non per-
forming consumer loans (“NPL”) in Russia. We 
were hopeful to close out a transaction by year-
end but unfortunately the target company de-
cided to consider a corporate action, making it 
impossible to proceed with an investment. As 
we had gained good knowledge of this industry 
segment, we pursued an alternative transaction. 
In early April 2011 this resulted in a partnership 
with AJ Prospect Capital Limited, a credit man-
agement services company that has strong ties 
with Russia and leading debt collection plat-
forms in this market. For this venture we have 
committed up to USD 15 million to acquire NPL 
portfolios. 

Based on the aggregate value of our fixed in-
come, listed equity and private equity invest-
ments and the cash on hand at year-end, ENR 
was around 77% invested.

Over 2010 the recovery of the Russian economy 
continued and gross domestic product (“GDP”) 
increased by some 4%. The economic recovery 
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process is poised to continue in 2011 where GDP 
growth is expected to exceed 4%. Over the mid 
to long term, with the 2018 football World Cup 
having been awarded to Russia and with Russia 
hosting the 2014 Winter Olympics, meaningful 
infrastructure development will take place. For-
eign investment should increase, the tourism 
industry will be boosted and other sectors of the 
economy will also benefit.

We will continue to focus on interesting poten-
tial investment opportunities, especially in fi-
nancial services businesses, consumer focused 
operations and businesses servicing or provid-
ing products to the infrastructure industry. 
Strong management, market relevance and good 
growth potential are important factors to con-
sider. We also look forward in deploying funds 
into NPL acquisitions in Russia. 

Mr. Gustav Stenbolt
Chairman
ENR Russia Invest SA

April 2011
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Economic Review

Commonwealth of Independent States
During October 2010 the International Monetary 
Fund (“IMF”) confirmed that the recovery in the 
Commonwealth of Independent States (“CIS”) 
region was underway, supported by high com-
modity prices, better trade flows and positive 
spillovers from Russia. In 2011 real activity is 
estimated to grow by 4.6 %. A recovery should 
be led by oil exporters where growth prospects 
of smaller CIS states are influenced by the re-
covery in Russia, a source of trade, remittances 
and investment. However, prospects of CIS 
members vary considerably, depending on their 
exposure to commodity prices, the level of inte-
gration with global financial markets, policy 
support and links to Russia. High commodity 
prices will benefit regional energy exporters and 
large-scale investment and higher volumes of 
gas exports are projected to, for example, boost 
2011 growth in Turkmenistan to 11.5% and 7% 
in Uzbekistan. Renewed capital inflows and a 
more rapid recovery in credit markets could fur-
ther boost growth in the CIS. In many CIS coun-
tries, bank balance sheets remain impaired and 
may require policy formulation and possible in-
tervention from government.

During July 2010 Russia, Belarus and Kazakh-
stan reached an agreement for a customs union 
and a joint customs code. This code standardised 
customs procedures between these countries 
and trade should increase and provide a further 
boost to CIS regional growth. Growth prospects 
will be influenced by adverse changes in com-

modity prices and the region (Russia in particu-
lar) is still vulnerable to volatility in capital flows 
and global risk appetite. Many CIS member 
states also have managed exchange rate re-
gimes, although to Russia’s credit, it had intro-
duced greater exchange rate flexibility during 
the past year. 

Russian Federation
2010 and beyond
Economic recovery continued during 2010 with 
4% growth in GDP. Estimates from the Russian 
Ministry of Economic Development are that GDP 
will grow by 4.2% in 2011, where rising real 
wages and lower unemployment should support 
consumption. Annual inflation rose to 8.8% in 
December 2010. Adjustments to bank balance 
sheets are underway and a cautious expansion 
in lending could materialise in 2011. Normal 
credit expansion will require improved provi-
sioning standards with enhanced supervisory 
powers.

Prime Minister Putin, in an annual televised 
question and answer session, echoed ministerial 
economic forecasts stating that Russia has 
moved from an uncertain economic outlook to 
“satisfactory” recovery. He mentioned that 1.2 
million new jobs were created in 2010 and that 
real wages had increased by 2.5%, predicting 
that the Russian economy would pass its pre-
crisis level in 2012. 

In November 2010 the Central Bank of Russia 
(“CBR”) raised deposit rates by 25 basis points. 
At end January 2011 the reserve ratio to non-
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resident corporate liabilities increased from 
2.5% to 3.5% (reserve ratio to other liabilities 
from 2.5% to 3.0%). This increase will partially 
withdraw some excess liquidity from the system 
and could help to reduce potential inflationary 
risks. However excess liquidity remains in the  
market. Recent decisions not to use rates in-
creases indicated that a rate increase was not a 
preferred choice in dealing with rising inflation 
(rate increases will increase cost of lending and 
put pressure on economic activity). 

Russia returned to the sovereign debt market in 
April 2010 after some ten years and raised USD 
5.5 billion in a heavily oversubscribed offering. 
Bonds were secured between a 1.2% and 1.35% 
premium above treasuries (for five and 10 year 
bonds, respectively), a historic low for Russia. 

Unemployment was 7.2% at end December 2010. 
Russia’s private net capital outflow for 2010 
amounted to around USD 38 billion whilst the 
budget deficit was around 3.9% of GDP, driven 
partly by an increase in social spending. 

The CBR is considering a move away from tar-
geting a dollar-euro exchange rate basket and 
dealing with inflation directly to maintain infla-
tion at 6% to 7% in 2011. Russian central bank-
ers also suggested that trade-weighted Rouble 
appreciation of 7% or 8% in 2011 could be 
acceptable. 

The State Duma approved budget for 2011-2013 
was based on an average oil price of $75 a bar-
rel, with a predicted 2011 deficit of 3.6% of GDP. 

Discussions on how to finance the deficit con-
tinues. Finance Minister Kudrin agreed to in-
crease oil and gas mineral extraction tax and 
confirmed that payroll taxes (used to fund social 
payments) would rise to 34% in 2011 from 26% 
for small businesses and 14% for entrepreneurs. 
Small businesses and entrepreneurs working in 
production or social spheres will have a two year 
dispensation from the increased tax.

Energy sector 
The Nordstream project (gas pipeline linking 
Russia to Europe via the Baltic sea to ship Rus-
sian gas into Europe) is well underway and over 
half of the first two 1’224 kilometer gas pipe-
lines have been completed. Construction of line 
1 is progressing on schedule and will start 
transporting gas from Russia to European Union 
(“EU”) customers in late 2011. 

Cooperation between Russia and China is deep-
ening. During a September 2010 visit to China, 
President Medvedev signed a number of com-
mercial agreements. The East Siberian-Pacific 
Ocean oil pipeline between East Siberia and 
Daqing has started operations in early 2011. 
Prime Minister Putin stated that the aim is to 
provide some 30 million tones of crude oil to the 
Asia Pacific region per year and that there are 
plans to increase this amount in future.

Gazprom and Bulgaria Energy Holding set-up a 
joint venture for the construction of the Bulgar-
ian section of the South Stream gas pipeline 
(designed to deliver up to 63 billion cubic meters 
of Central Asia and Russian gas via the Black Sea 
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to Southern Europe). Russia reached agreement 
with Poland for the supply and transport of gas 
where Russia will deliver some 11 billion cubic 
meter of gas to Poland from 2012 until 2022. 
Russia and Norway signed an arctic border agree-
ment, ending a 40 year dispute over an area in 
the Barents Sea containing potentially significant 
oil and gas reserves (divided equally the disputed 
area of 175,000 square kilometers, opening up 
future prospects for oil and gas exploration). 

Privatisation plans
The Russian government approved a privatisa-
tion plan to dispose of State interests in around 
900 state enterprises. From 2011-2015 State in-
terests in certain major companies will be sold, 
generating estimated revenues of USD 60 bil-
lion. Over 850 small and medium sized enter-
prises will also be privatised by 2013, with esti-
mated proceeds of some USD 500 million. Main 
assets to be sold include interests in state banks 
VTB and Sberbank (35% and 9.3% respectively); 
electricity holdings Russian Hydro and the Fed-
eral Grid company (8% and 4.1%, respectively); 
shipping company Sovcomflot (50% minus one 
share); agricultural intermediary RosagroLeasing 
(50% minus one share); 100% of United Grain 
Company; Russian Railways (25%) and oil major 
Rosneft (initially 15% - 25%). There are also 
plans to dispose of 100 % of the Federal Grain 
Company. First Deputy Prime Minister Igor Shu-
valov mentioned that Sheremetyevo Interna-
tional airport may be privatised and that the 
government may reduce its interest in Aeroflot 
to below a controlling stake. 

2018 World Cup and 2014 Winter Olympics
FIFA awarded Russia the right to host the 2018 
football World Cup. It is estimated that hosting 
this tournament will cost around USD 10 billion. 
Market analysts have suggested that improve-
ments to Russia’s infrastructure could cost a fur-
ther USD 50 billion. Over the mid-to-long term, 
events such as the 2018 football World Cup and 
the 2014 Winter Olympics, which Russia is host-
ing, will require infrastructure development, for-
eign investment and boost the tourism industry. 
Other sectors of the economy will also benefit. 

Other
In 2010 Russia suffered from a major drought 
across large parts of central and western Russia. 
The drought was caused by a record heat wave 
triggering tens of thousands of wildfires killing 
around 50 people and destroying thousands of 
homes. Temperatures topped 40 degrees C in 
some regions, with Moscow breaking several 
temperature records in July and August 2010. The 
agricultural sector suffered as more than 20% of 
grain crops were severely damaged. Prime Minis-
ter Putin banned wheat exports and other grain 
until end 2010 and Russia become a grain im-
porter for the first time in over a decade.

The EU announced the conclusion of bilateral 
negotiations with Russia on its accession to the 
World Trade Organisation (“WTO”). Since 1993 
Russia was in negotiations to join the WTO. Un-
der WTO rules Russia need to reach bilateral 
agreements with all member states. Russia ex-
pects to complete negotiations in 2011. 
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President Medvedev introduced further anti-
corruption measures to improve transparency. 
These included developing the State’s electronic 
trading system; publishing all court decisions 
and increasing the number of civil servants who 
have to declare their income. 

Ukraine
The economy is still cyclical and dependent on 
global metals and mining markets and has expe-
rienced a severe recession before a rebound in 
export-orientated industries in late 2009 and 
early 2010. The government is addressing a 
number of structural imbalances including tax 
and pension reforms. A number of challenges 
loom, such as the reduction of the budget defi-
cit, pension fund deficit reforms and a shift to 
value added tax (“VAT”) rebates on a cash-flow 
basis.  Achieving agreed objectives is important 
as this will strengthen public finances and im-
prove investor sentiment. The first IFM review 
was passed in November 2010. If further initia-
tives are successful it will improve public fi-
nances and will assist sustained economic 
growth over the medium and long term.

Planned changes to the tax regime should take 
effect from 2011 onwards, where VAT is to grad-
ually reduce by 1% a year to 17% in 2013; the 
corporate tax rate should reduce from 25% to 
23%; the annual revenue threshold for opera-
tions to qualify as small businesses under a sim-
plified tax regime will be revised; implementa-
tion of a progressive scale of taxation for 
personal income tax is scheduled to take place 
and a new tax on property and deposits may be 
introduced.

In 2010 demand recovered, supported by high 
growth in real wages and a slow renewal of con-
sumer lending. Consequently, retail sales in-
creased 7.8% year-on-year (“YoY”) in 2010. GDP 
grew by some 3% in 2010. With a further in-
crease in consumption and a gradual increase in 
bank lending, GDP growth should be around 4% 
in 2011. Inflation, which was 9.1% at end of 
2010 could then increase. The current account 
could also come under pressure if imports in-
crease and there is a renewed demand for for-
eign currency. With higher inflation the National 
Bank of Ukraine (“NBU”) could be tempted to 
support Hryvnia depreciation but if current ac-
count pressure continues, it is likely that the IMF 
will be against interventionist policies and 
the NBU will have to then allow Hryvnia 
depreciation.

Ukraine settled an outstanding gas bill with 
Russia and also reached agreement to prolong 
terms of Russian gas transit through Poland to 
Western Europe until 2045. Russia’s Black Sea 
Fleet’s lease on the port in Sevastopol was ex-
tended by 25 years and, in exchange, Russia will 
grant Ukraine a 30% discount on gas supplies 
for 10 years from 2017. The “take or pay” penal-
ty clauses of earlier agreements will also be ter-
minated. Ukraine is estimated to save some USD 
4.4 billion over a 10 year period.
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Kazakhstan
Prime Minister Karim Massimov in a recent in-
terview indicated that GDP growth in Kazakh-
stan in 2011 could reach the same level as in 
2010, where GDP grew by some 6%. This is 
higher than the official government forecast of 
4% - 5% for 2011. Exports support economic 
growth and important factors are China’s con-
sumption of Kazakhstan’s mineral and energy 
resources and further growth in oil exports and 
oil price increases. Increased spending of public 
funds on industrialisation projects will also be a 
factor.

China accounted for 17.6% of total Kazakh ex-
ports, becoming the number one export desti-
nation for Kazakh goods. During 2010 Kazakh 
exports increased largely due to the Kazakh-
stan-China crude oil pipeline (in 2010 reached 
designed capacity of 10 million tones per an-
num). The capacity of the pipeline is expected to 
reach 20 million tones per annum when second 
phase construction is completed. Kazakhstan is 
becoming a key supplier to regions in Western 
China and became a top 10 oil exporter to China 
in 2009, with some 2.9% share of total Chinese 
oil imports. China has increased investments in 
Kazakhstan, especially in the resources, oil and 
gas sectors. With some USD 7 billion invest-
ment, China National Petroleum Corporation is 
the largest corporate investor in Kazakhstan.

Once problems in the banking system have been 
resolved, greater exchange rate flexibility should 
benefit the economy and facilitate monetary 
management, assist the economy to adjust to 

external shocks and promote a local-currency 
financial market development. It is important to 
restore financial sector health and to have a 
transparent and comprehensive strategy to re-
solve bad debts (i.e. involving an independent 
assessment of systemic risks of banks and need 
for recapitalisation).

In recent presidential elections, President 
Nursultan Nazarbayev was reelected for a five-
year term, until 2016.

Belarus
Belarus is in the early stages of transition to a 
market economy and continues to subsidise 
many sectors of the economy. There is a grow-
ing deficit on its current account, with low for-
eign reserves. In 2010 the deficit was more than 
USD 8 billion (in part caused by an increase by 
Russia of export duties on its crude oil supplies 
to Belarus for further re-exports of refined 
products). 

Russia and Belarus settled a long dispute over 
oil duties. Russia, in the past, provided oil to Be-
larus at a discounted price. Russia then with-
drew these discounts and reinstated duty free 
exports for domestic oil only. As part of the set-
tlement Belarus will now receive oil duty-free 
from Russia for its own use and for refining and 
onward sale. Belarus will tax the refined oil 
products it exports to Europe and pay these 
proceeds to Russia. However, bilateral agree-
ments with Russian company suppliers still need 
to be concluded. This may put further pressure 
on the current account and Belarus will have to 
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look at external borrowings and accelerate the 
privatisation process to increase foreign direct 
investment.

Political Review

In January 2010 President Medvedev established 
the North Caucasian Federal District comprising 
all the regions of the North Caucasus and ap-
pointed Mr. Alexander Khloponin his envoy to 
the region. The newly created Federal District is 
the eighth one since 2000. Since becoming 
president, Mr. Medvedev has urged modernisa-
tion of the political and economic system. Presi-
dent Medvedev has advocated a gradual process 
for political reform. In 2010 changes were intro-
duced regulating equal access for all political 
parties to federal and regional media, streamline 
procedures for early voting and absentee voting, 
introduced criminal punishment for tampering 
with absentee ballots and reducing the number 
of voter signatures required for a party to qual-
ify for parliamentary elections.

In March 2010, Russia suffered from a tragic 
terrorist attack on the Moscow metro, where 40 
people were killed in two suicide bombings. In 
January 2011 there was another devastating 
bomb attack at Moscow’s Domodedovo airport 
killing at least 35 people. 

In Moscow, Mr. Sergei Sobyanin was appointed 
as new Moscow mayor to fill the vacancy cre-
ated when President Medvedev dismissed Mr. 
Yuri Luzhkov (who held that position since 
1992). Mr. Sobyanin has served twice as chief of 

staff to Prime Minister Putin and will prioritise 
Moscow’s traffic problems. He also intends to 
develop partnerships with the private sector. 
Moscow city will start to use electronic auctions 
for tenders to minimise corruption, critically 
evaluate existing construction contracts and set 
goals for new transport and social infrastruc-
ture developments. 

President Medvedev visited Kunashir in Novem-
ber 2010, the Southernmost island of the Kuril 
Islands. It was the first time that a Russian lead-
er visited the Kurils. The islands have been dis-
puted by Russia and Japan since 1945.

In December 2010 there was an outburst of vio-
lence in Moscow directed against ethnic minori-
ties when a crowd of young extremists attacked 
police officers and passers-by with Central Asia 
complexions. President Medvedev subsequently 
warned that nationalist attacks threatened Rus-
sia’s stability and ordered law enforcement 
agencies to crack down on race-based clashes.
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Naftrans Limited
During the period 2003 to 2006, ENR invested 
USD 30 million in Naftrans. In March 2008, Naf-
trans sold all its subsidiaries holding the Naftrans 
Georgian operating assets to the KazMunaiGas 
group for cash. Subsequently, in May 2008, ENR 
received a special dividend of USD 10 million 
from Naftrans out of the KazMunaiGas sale pro-
ceeds and a further non repayable shareholders’ 
loan in July 2008 of USD 21.3 million. 

Naftrans then commenced with a disposal pro-
cess of its remaining assets and to recover cer-
tain funds which were owing to it. Subsequently, 
Naftrans concluded a settlement agreement with 
the debtor for the recovery of the funds owing to 
it. As part of this transaction (closed on 30 June 
2010) the previous managing shareholder of Naf-
trans, as well as another small shareholder, are no 
longer shareholders of Naftrans. As a result, 
ENR’s shareholding in Naftrans increased to 
22.66%. 

ENR, via settlement proceeds and the sale of a 
remaining Naftrans asset should, over time, re-
ceive the USD 13.96 million which was due to 
ENR immediately prior to Naftrans having con-
cluded the settlement agreement. 

During the second half of 2010, Naftrans received 
a first payment under the settlement agreement 
and made a distribution to its shareholders. This 
was done via non repayable shareholder loans 
and ENR received USD 6’797’867 in cash. 

Accordingly, some USD 7.16 million remains due 
to ENR, which should be recovered from further 
settlement proceeds and the sale of the remain-
ing Naftrans asset. Consequently, at 31 December 
2010 the net value of our investment in Naftrans 
was CHF 6.78 million (i.e. USD 7.16 million at the 
prevailing USD/CHF year-end 2010 exchange 
rate). 

Equities
Pursuant to the 2008 unbundling of the Russian 
electricity company Unified Energy Systems, ENR 
received shares in electricity companies. 

ENR continues to hold shares in Moscow United 
Electricity Distribution CO JSC; RAO Eastern En-
ergy System JSC; Federal Grid Company of UES 
OJSC; IDGC Holding (Interregional Distribution 
Grid Company of Volga); INTER RAO UES JSC; 
Kuzbassenergo; Moscow Power JSC (Mosenergo); 
Federal Hydrogeneration Company JSC; Territorial 
Generation Companies No1; No2: No6; No9; and 
No11; Quadra Power Generation JGC; Eniseyska 
Territory Generation Company (TGC 13) and First 
Generation Company of Wholesale Electricity 
Market OJSC (WGC-1). 

During the reporting period, ENR sold its inter-
ests in Volzhskaya Territorial Generation Compa-
ny OJSC (TGC 7) and invested CHF 543’712 to par-
ticipate in a rights offering of First Generation 
Company of Wholesale Electricity Market OJSC. 
At 31 December 2010 the aggregate value of 
ENR’s shares in Russian electricity sector compa-
nies amounted to CHF 9.53 million.

Portfolio Investments

12



EPH is Russian focused real estate development 
company listed on the SIX Swiss Exchange in 
Switzerland. It is positioned to benefit from a re-
covery of the Russian real estate market, which 
could occur over the medium term. 

EPH is managed by a Valartis group subsidiary. 
Considering that ENR is also managed by a differ-
ent Valartis group subsidiary, the investment in 
EPH is not taken into account by ENR for its man-
agement fee calculations (refer to Note 10.1 to 
the Consolidated Financial Statements forming 
part of this report). At December 31, 2010, the 
value attributed to the EPH investment was CHF 
11.28 million.

Fixed Income
ENR owns USD denominated fixed income in-
struments issued by the Lukoil group, a leading 
vertically integrated oil and gas group. Lukoil’s 
business comprises of exploration and produc-
tion of oil and gas, production of petroleum 
products and petrochemicals and the marketing 
of these outputs. It has around 1.1% of global oil 
reserves and 2.3% of global oil production and 
dominates the Russian energy sector, with 19% 
of total Russian oil production and 19% of Rus-
sian oil refining. Lukoil’s proven hydrocarbon 
reserves at December 31, 2010 comprised 17.3 
billion barrels of oil equivalent, including 13.3 
billion barrels of oil and 23.6 trillion cubic feet 
of gas. Lukoil also operates a large number of 
retail stations in Russia. 

ENR owns USD denominated fixed income in-
struments issued by the TNK-BP group. During 
the reporting period ENR made a CHF 254’292 
investment in TNK BP fixed income instruments. 
TNK-BP is a leading vertically integrated Russian 
oil group with a diversified upstream and down-
stream portfolio in Russia and Ukraine. Its major 
upstream operations are located primarily in 
West Siberia, the Volga-Urals and East Siberia. 
TNK-BP controls 675 thousand barrels per day of 
installed refining capacity, with principal refin-
ing assets located in Ryazan, Saratov, Nizhnev-
artovsk and Lisichansk. TNK-BP operates a retail 
network of approximately 1,400 filling stations 
in Russia and Ukraine working under the BP and 
TNK brands, with a strong position in the Mos-
cow retail market. 

VTB Group is one of the largest universal bank-
ing and financial services groups in Russia, of-
fering a wide range of corporate, retail and in-
vestment banking services. VTB Capital is the 
investment banking arm of the group offering, 
amongst other things, debt and equity arrange-
ment services, private investment, operations in 
the global commodities markets, asset manage-
ment and advising clients on merger and acqui-
sition deals in Russia and abroad. ENR owns CHF 
and USD denominated fixed income instruments 
of this group and invested CHF 1.07 million to 
acquire a VTB fixed income instrument during 
the reporting period. 
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ENR owns RUB denominated fixed income in-
struments issued by Russian Railways, who has 
the second largest network in the world com-
prising 85,200 km of track (43,000 km of which 
is electrified). It carries over 1.1 billion passen-
gers and 1.1 billion tones of freight annually and 
is responsible for 43 % of Russia’s total freight 
traffic (including pipelines) and more than 41 % 
of passenger traffic. Rolling stock includes 
20,100 goods and passenger locomotives; 
624,900 goods wagons; 24,100 long-distance 
passenger carriages and 15,600 short-range 
passenger carriages. Services rendered include 
freight transportation; long-distance passenger 
transport; suburban passenger transport; infra-
structure services; locomotive propulsion ser-
vices; repair and maintenance of rolling stock 
and infrastructure development. 

The Magnit group comprises of entities operat-
ing in the retail trade under the “Magnit” brand 
and Magnit is one of the leading food retail net-
works in Russia. At December 31, 2010 it con-
sisted of, inter alia, 4,004 convenience stores 
and 51 hypermarkets. Magnit focuses on cities 
and towns with a population of less than 
500,000 inhabitants and most stores are locat-
ed in the Southern, Central and Volga regions. It 
operates an in-house logistics system consist-
ing of 11 distribution centers, employing auto-
mated stock replenishment systems and a fleet 
of 2,642 vehicles. ENR has invested in a RUB de-
nominated fixed income instrument of this 
group.

ENR owns USD denominated fixed income in-
struments issued by the Gazprom group, the 
world’s largest gas business engaged in natural 
gas, gas condensate and oil prospecting, pro-
duction, transmission, processing and marketing 
both inside and outside Russia. Major business 
lines are geological exploration, production, 
transportation, storage, processing and market-
ing of hydrocarbons and generation and mar-
keting of heat and electric power. Gazprom pos-
sesses some of the largest natural gas reserves 
in the world and produces some 17% of global 
gas production. Gazprom also owns the gas 
trunk lines integrated in the Unified Gas Supply 
System of Russia. During the reporting period 
ENR invested a further CHF 1.93 million in a 
fixed income instrument of this group.

ENR owns foreign currency fixed income instru-
ments issued by the Lithuanian government. 
Lithuania is the largest and most southern of 
the three Baltic republics. After reasonable 
growth in 2007 and 2008, the economy faced a 
deep recession in 2009. Statistics Lithuania re-
ported that GDP grew by 1.3% in 2010 and the 
Lithuania’s Central Bank estimated that in 2011 
and 2012 the real GDP should increase by 3.1% 
and 4.1%, respectively. During the reporting pe-
riod ENR invested CHF 254’318 in a foreign cur-
rency fixed income instrument issued by the 
Lithuanian government. 
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ENR has an investment in the Valartis Russia & 
CIS Fixed Income Fund. The fund seeks total re-
turns through investments in fixed income se-
curities in Russia and other members of the CIS 
seeking both capital appreciation and income 
through an active strategy, depending on the 
global and local environments and opportunities 
in the market. The fund’s investment manager 
selects fixed income securities issued by com-
panies, federal, municipal, regional governments 
and agencies that enjoy both high yields as well 
as a potential for capital appreciation, experi-
encing fundamental credit improvement and 
have a positive outlook. Generally, the fund’s in-
vestment manager seeks exposure to euro bonds 
denominated in USD, EUR, CHF. The fund con-
centrates on a short list of some 100 issuers and 
runs an average portfolio comprising 20 to 30 
entities.
 
At December 31, 2010 the value of ENR’s invest-
ment in the fund was CHF 3.22 million. Consider-
ing that this fund is managed by a Valartis group 
entity, ENR does not pay management fees to its 
investment manager on the value of the position 
held in the Valartis Russia & CIS Fixed Income 
Fund (see Note 10.1 to the Consolidated Financial 
Statements in this report).
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The board of directors (“Board”) establishes 
strategic, accounting, organisational and fi-
nancing policies to be followed by the Company. 
The Board further appoints the authorised sig-
natories of the Company. Moreover, the Board is 
entrusted with preparing shareholders’ meet-
ings and  carrying out shareholders’ resolutions. 
The main duty of the Board is to exercise the su-
pervision over the Company’s affairs and its in-
vestment policy.
 
The Board comprises the people listed on pages 
18 and 19.

Gustav Stenbolt – Chairman
Born 12 August 1957. Lic. rer. pol., University of 
Fribourg. CEO of the Valartis group and Valartis 
Bank AG, Zurich, Chairman of the Board of 
 Directors of Valartis Asset Management S.A. and 
member of the board of Valartis Wealth Man-
agement S.A., Geneva; ENR Russia Invest SA, 
Geneva and MCG Holding AG, Baar; Chairman of 
the Supervisory Board of  Valartis Bank (Austria) 
AG, Vienna, and Valartis Europe AG, Vienna. 
Mr. Stenbolt is also a member of the board of di-
rectors of Eastern Property Holdings Ltd, Tortola 
(BVI) and Anglo Chinese Group, Hong Kong. He 
founded the MCT Group in 1996.

Board of Directors
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Walter Fetscherin
Born 18 August 1945. Swiss citizen with Zurich 
as his place of origin and Meilen, Switzerland,  
as his domicile. Dr. Fetscherin studied at the  
Law Faculty of the University of Zurich, Vienna 
and Heidelberg, including a doctorate of Law 
from Zurich University. In 1973 he joined the 
Swiss department of Foreign Affairs and has 
since served in diplomatic postings in Poland, 
the USSR and Canada. He was Swiss Ambassa-
dor to South Korea, the Czech Republic and until 
2003 he served as Swiss Ambassador to Russia, 
Kazakhstan and Turkmenistan (and Armenia, 
Azerbaijan and Georgia for one year). He is cur-
rently a member of the board of the MC Russian 
Market Fund and a board member of PSA Inter-
national SA and other private companies. Dr. 
Fetscherin is also President of the Joint Cham-
ber of Commerce (JCC, Switzerland-Russia, 
Ukraine, Kazakhstan, Belarus and Kyrgyzstan) 
and Chairman of the Advisory Board of Nestle 
Russia LLC.

Dmitry Amunts
Born 8 June 1962. Russian citizen with Moscow 
as his domicile. Dr. Amunts graduated from the 
Department of Economic Cybernetics, Plekha-
nov Moscow Institute of National Economy in 
1984 and later completed a PhD in Economics in 
2006. He represented the USSR/Russia in the 
trade mission in Ghana and then worked for the 
Menatep - Rosprom and Alfa groups. From 1998 
– 2000 he was Vice President of Swiss based en-
gineering Mabetex Group.  During 2000 - 2001 
he was Deputy CEO of the JSC “Aeroflot”. From 
2001 - 2004, he was Chairman of the CIS In-
vestment Committee. In 2004, he was appointed 
as a Deputy Minister of Culture and Mass Com-
munication, Russia. From 2008 - 2009, Dr. 
Amunts was General Director and later Presi-
dent of United Industrial Corporation. Currently 
he is Chairman of the Atlas engineering group 
(construction, engineering & energy). 
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The investment committee is responsible for in-
vestment decisions, which are made in accor-
dance with the Company’s investment guide-
lines (“Investment Committee”). The Investment 
Committee has been appointed by Valartis Inter-
national Limited, the investment manager of 
ENR (“Investment Manager”).

The Investment Committee comprises the peo-
ple listed on pages 20 to 23.

Ben de Bruyn (South African) 
Mr. de Bruyn joined Valartis group (with respon-
sibility for private equity operations) during 
2006 and has more than 12 years of  experience 
advising in merger and acquisitions, capital rais-
ings, privatisations and group restructurings. 
Previously, he led the corporate finance division 
of Brait SA, a South African private equity and 
 investment group where he was involved in a 
number of private equity transactions, including 
leveraged buy-outs of listed companies. Before 
this he worked for the capital markets team of 
Absa Bank Ltd and in the corporate banking di-
vision of First Rand Ltd. He holds business and 
legal degrees from the University of Stellen-
bosch, South Africa as well as a postgraduate 
diploma in taxation from the Rand Afrikaans 
University, South  Africa. In 1993, he was admit-
ted as an attorney of the High Court of South 
Africa.

Investment Committee
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Philipp LeibundGut (Swiss) 
Mr. LeibundGut is a board member of Valartis 
Group AG; Valartis Bank (Liechtenstein) AG; Va-
lartis Asset Management S.A., Geneva; Valartis 
Bonus Card AG; Eastern Property Holdings Ltd, 
Tortola (BVI).; and a member of the supervisory 
board of Valartis Bank (Austria) AG, Vienna. He 
previously headed up the private equity busi-
ness of Valartis group and has more than 12 
years of private equity experience in the CIS. 
Previously he worked for Hansa AG, a share-
holder of the Company. Mr. LeibundGut previ-
ously worked as a broker for Credit Suisse on the 
Basel Stock Exchange. He is a graduate in busi-
ness economics from the Basel University of 
Applied Sciences, Switzerland.

Gustav Stenbolt (Norwegian) 
Refer to page 18 under the section ‘Board of 
Directors’.  
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Alexander Nikolaev (Russian) 
As head of Russia and CIS operations of Smith 
Management LLC, a private US investment com-
pany, Mr. Nikolaev has in excess of 12 years of 
experience managing private and public equity 
investments and real estate developments in 
Russia. He is a member of the investment com-
mittees of the MC Russian Market Fund and 
Swiss listed Eastern Property Holdings Limited.  
Mr. Nikolaev is a member of the Investor Protec-
tion Association (Russian Shareholder Advoca-
cy) and in 2003–2004 served as a board member 
of this association. He is a graduate of the Mos-
cow State University for Foreign Affairs and 
State Diplomatic Academy of the Ministry for 
Foreign Affairs of Russia.

Yulia Makhinova (Russian) 
Mrs. Makhinova is responsible for accounting 
and financial reporting for the Valartis group in 
Moscow. She began her career as a tax advisor 
with Pricewaterhouse Coopers in Moscow. Prior 
to joining the Valartis group, she was chief ac-
countant at the  Moscow office of Skanska East 
Europe. She is a graduate of the Russian State 
Financial Academy and is a Chartered Public 
Accountant.
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Irina Borodina (Russian) 
Ms. Borodina is responsible for financial analy-
sis and financial control of development and op-
erating activities of Swiss listed Eastern Proper-
ty Holdings Limited subsidiaries in Russia. She 
has more than seven years experience in real es-
tate development and private  equity manage-
ment. Prior to joining the Valartis group in 2006, 
she worked for the asset management division 
of Kalchuga Fund Ltd., a private investment 
group. Ms. Borodina has an MBA degree in Fi-
nance from California State University.

Christine Spyrou-Catras (Canadian) 
Mrs. Spyrou-Catras began her career with 
 Goldman Sachs in Toronto and in 1997 moved to 
Cyprus where she was head of the Robert Flem-
ing office in charge of all administration and cli-
ent related matters. In 1999, she became Branch 
Manager of Anglo Irish Bank where she opened 
and maintained all corporate and private ac-
counts. Since 2002, she has been in charge of 
MCT Management Ltd as administration man-
ager, handling the trading execution and coordi-
nating reporting requirements with local 
 authorities. She also acts as director for various 
private companies. She holds a Computer Pro-
gramming Degree from Centennial  College in 
Toronto, Canada.
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Domicile 
2–4 Place du Molard
1211 Geneva 3
Switzerland

Swiss Security Number: 3447695 
ISIN Number: CH0034476959 
Market Capitalisation: CHF 88’455’247
(At a closing price of CHF 33.45 per share on 
December 31, 2010)

1. Group Structure 

1.1 Group structure 
The operative group structure of ENR is de-
scribed in note 1 to the Consolidated Financial 
Statements. 

The subsidiaries of ENR are described in note 3.2 
to the Consolidated Financial Statements. 

1.2 Significant shareholders 
Significant shareholders are disclosed in note 
10.3 to the Consolidated Financial Statements. 

ENR has no knowledge of any significant share-
holder agreements. 

1.3 Cross-shareholdings 
ENR is not aware of any cross shareholdings. 

Corporate Governance Report
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2. Capital Structure 

2.1 Capital 
The Company’s capital structure is disclosed  
in note 9 to the Consolidated Financial 
State ments. 

2.2 Change in capital 
Changes in capital are summarised in the con-
solidated statement of changes in equity, which 
forms part of the Consolidated Financial 
Statements. 

2.3 Shares and participation certificates 
Note 9 to the Consolidated Financial Statements 
contains a description of the Company’s shares. 
No participation certificates have been issued. 

2.4 Profit sharing certificates 
The Company has not issued any profit sharing 
certificates. 

2.5 Limitations on transferability and 
nominee registration
The Company’s Articles of Association do not 
foresee any restrictions on the transfer of the 
Company’s shares. As the Company only has 
bearer shares in issue, there are no rules on reg-
istration in a shareholder register.

3. Board of Directors

3.1 Members of the Board of Directors
As of December 31, 2010, the board of directors 
is composed of the following members:

Gustav Stenbolt
Executive member, Chairman  
(Norwegian national, first election in 2007)
For details, refer to page 18 of the annual re-
port, section ‘Board of Directors’.

Walter Fetscherin
Non-executive member 
(Swiss national, first election in 2007)
For details, refer to page 19 of the annual re-
port, section ‘Board of Directors’.

Dmitry Amunts
Non-executive member 
(Russian national, first election in 2010)
For details, refer to page 19 of the annual re-
port, section ‘Board of Directors’.
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3.2 Other activities and functions
For details, refer to pages 18 to 19 of the annual 
report, section ‘Board of Directors’.

3.3 Cross involvement
For details, refer to pages 18 to 19 of the annual 
report, section ‘Board of Directors’.

3.4 Election and term of office
Each member of the Board is elected for a period 
of 1 year, expiring at the first ordinary General 
Assembly following his or her election. There is 
no limitation on re-election. The time of first 
election has been disclosed under the Corporate 
Governance Report, section 3.1.

3.5 Internal organizational structure
Physical Board meetings are usually held 4 times 
per year. The duration of the meetings is normally 
3 hours. Board members usually physically attend 
some 3 meetings per year. If they are unable to 
attend physically, Board members will join the 
meeting by teleconference. Furthermore, confer-
ence calls are organized from time to time. 

The Board has formed the Audit committee com-
posed of Gustav Stenbolt and Walter Fetscherin. 
It meets at least twice a year.

The Board is regularly informed on the activity of 
the Company by the Investment Manager, who 
formally reports during Board meetings.

3.6 Definitions of areas of responsibility
The Board is responsible for managing the busi-
ness affairs of the Company in accordance with 
the Company’s memorandum and Articles of As-
sociation. The day to day management, however, 
has been delegated to the Investment Manager, 
who appoints the Investment Committee mem-
bers (see Corporate Governance Report, section 
4.3). 

3.7 Information and control instruments
The Investment Manager reports the Company’s 
NAV and investment portfolio to the Board on  
a regular basis and participates in all Board 
meetings. 

Potential changes in the investment strategy and 
major investments are discussed amongst Board 
members. However, day-to-day investment deci-
sions are made by the Investment Committee in 
accordance with the investment guidelines.
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4. Investment Committee

4.1 Members of the Investment Committee
The members of the Investment Committee are 
as follows:

Ben de Bruyn
For details, refer to page 20 of the annual re-
port, section ‘Investment Committee’.

Philipp LeibundGut 
For details, refer to page 21 of the annual re-
port, section ‘Investment Committee’.

Gustav Stenbolt
See Corporate Governance section 3.1 above 
and refer to page 21 of the annual report, sec-
tion ‘Investment Committee’ and to page 18 of 
the annual report, section ‘Board of Directors’.

Alexander Nikolaev
For details, refer to page 22 of the annual re-
port, section ‘Investment Committee’.

Yulia Makhinova 
For details, refer to page 22 of the annual re-
port, section ‘Investment Committee’.

Irina Borodina
For details, refer to page 23 of the annual re-
port, section ‘Investment Committee’.

Christine Spyrou-Catras
For details, refer to page 23 of the annual re-
port, section ‘Investment Committee’.

4.2 Other activities and vested interests
Refer to the section ‘Investment Committee’ of 
the annual report on pages 20 to 23 and also to 
page 18 of the annual report, section “Board of 
Directors”.
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4.3 Investment management agreement
ENR has appointed Valartis International Limited 
as its Investment Manager to provide overall in-
vestment management services for ENR and all 
its subsidiary companies, in accordance with the 
terms of the investment management agree-
ment dated November 15, 2007. 

The Investment Manager is a wholly owned sub-
sidiary of Valartis group. Pursuant to the invest-
ment management agreement, the Investment 
Manager is  responsible on a day-to-day basis for 
investing, reinvesting and supervising the Com-
pany’s assets in accordance with its Investment 
Guidelines. 

The duties of the Investment Manager comprise, 
inter alia, research work with regards to appro-
priate investment opportunities and expert ad-
vice on investments and divestments (refer to 
page 107, section ‘Investment Guidelines’ of the 
annual report for information on the investment 
process). 

In addition, it has to ensure that the Company 
and its subsidiaries are properly administered, 
designate external advisors to the Company and 
the subsidiaries, pursuant to instructions and 
under the supervision of the Board.

5. Compensation, Shareholdings and 
Loans

5.1 Content and method of compensation
Remuneration to Directors comprise of a fixed 
cash compensation, determined on an individual 
basis and periodically reviewed by the compen-
sation committee. It is the Company’s policy not 
to grant compensation to directors who are also 
officers of the Investment Manager. As compen-
sation, no shares, options or warrants have been 
allotted to the members of the Board or the In-
vestment Committee.

The directors will be reimbursed for traveling, 
hotel and other expenses reasonably incurred in 
the performance of their duties as members of 
the Board. The directors and officers of the 
Company will be covered by a directors’ and of-
ficers’ liability insurance entered into by the 
Company.

5.2 Compensation for acting members of 
governing bodies
Total compensation paid to non-executive di-
rectors for 2010 was CHF 75’000.

5.3 Compensation for former members of 
governing bodies
No compensation was paid to former members 
of the governing bodies.

5.4 Share allotment
There were no share allotments made by the 
Company during 2010.
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5.5 Share ownership
Dr. Walter Fetscherin and Dr. Dmitry Amunts do 
not own shares in the Company. Mr. Gustav 
Stenbolt indirectly holds 541’275 shares in the 
Company.

5.6 Options
The members of the Company’s Board, the mem-
bers of the Company’s Investment Committee 
and parties closely linked to such persons did 
not hold any options on shares of the Company 
as of December, 31 2010.

5.7 Additional fees and remunerations
Neither additional fees nor remunerations were 
paid during the period under review.

5.8 Loans to members of governing bodies
The Company did not grant any loans to mem-
bers of the Board.

5.9 Highest total compensation
The highest total compensation paid to a Direc-
tor during 2010 was CHF 50’000.

6. Shareholders’ Participation

6.1 Voting rights
The Company’s statutory provisions with re-
gards to shareholders participation rights are in 
line with applicable legal provisions. There are 
no voting rights restrictions.

6.2 Statutory quorums
Statutory quorums are in line with the applica-
ble legal provisions.

6.3 Convocation of shareholders meetings
Statutory rules on the convocation of share-
holders meetings are in line with the applicable 
legal provisions.

6.4 Agenda
Shareholders holding shares with a total nomi-
nal value of CHF 1 million may request in writing 
that additional items are added to the proposed 
agenda.

6.5 Inscriptions into share register
All of the Company’s shares have been issued in 
the form of bearer shares. Therefore, the Com-
pany does not maintain a shareholders’ register.
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7. Changes of Control and Defence 
Measure

7.1 Duty to make an offer
Pursuant to Article 32 of the Federal Act on 
Stock Exchanges and Securities Trading of March 
24, 1995 (“SESTA”) an offeror who acquires di-
rectly or indirectly 33 1/3 % of the voting rights 
of the Company will be required to make a pub-
lic offer to acquire all the listed securities of the 
Company. 

However, pursuant to Article 11 of the Compa-
ny’s Articles of Association, Article 32 SESTA 
shall not apply with respect to the Company. A 
purchaser of shares of the Company will there-
fore not be obliged to make a public tender offer 
under Article 32 SESTA.

7.2 Clauses on change of control
At the date of this report, the Company has not 
entered into any agreements that trigger finan-
cial consequences in the case of a change of 
control.

8. Auditors

8.1 Duration of mandate and term of office
PricewaterhouseCoopers SA acted as the  auditor 
of the Company from its incorporation until 24 
June 2010. Ernst & Young Ltd, at the annual 
general meeting of the Company held on 24 
June 2010, was then appointed as auditor of the 
Company. 

The auditor is elected by the general assembly 
for a term of one-year. 

PricewaterhouseCoopers SA continues to per-
form certain audit duties for one ENR subsidiary 
company. In due course, these functions will be 
transferred to Ernst & Young Ltd. 

For the Company, Mr. Cataldo Castagna is the 
auditor in charge since the appointment of Ernst 
& Young Ltd.
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8.2 Auditing fees
For the 2010 financial year, the Ernst & Young 
Ltd full year audit fee comprised CHF 127’500 
and was paid in the first quarter 2011.

8.3 Additional fees
No additional fees were paid to Ernst & Young 
Ltd. 

8.4 Supervisory and control instruments
It is the Company’s policy to hold a formal audit 
meeting between members of the audit commit-
tee and the auditor in charge once a year.

9. Information Policy

The Company appointed Valartis Asset Manage-
ment SA, a wholly owned subsidiary of Valartis 
group, for the calculation of its NAV and Attrib-
utable NAV per share, which is published on a 
quarterly basis. This function was previously 
fulfilled by Rhone Audit, a subsidiary of Pictet & 
Cie.

Audited annual reports as at December 31, are 
published within 4 months after year-end. Semi-
annual reports as at June 30, generally unaudit-
ed, are published within 2 months after closing.

Furthermore, information can be obtained by 
contacting the Company in writing, by phone or 
by fax:

ENR Russia Invest SA
Investor Relations
2–4 Place du Molard
P.O. Box 3458
1211 Geneva 3
Switzerland
Tel: +41 (0)22 716 1000
Fax: +41 (0)22 716 1001
E-mail: contact@enr.ch
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1. General

Risks and uncertainties described in this section 
of the annual report comprise material factors 
currently known to the Board. These factors may 
impact on ENR’s investment activities in Russia, 
other members of the CIS and the Baltic states. 
Many of the countries forming part of the CIS 
and the Baltic States face similar challenges 
arising from structural (whether economic, legal 
or political) matters to deal with in opening up 
their economies. Russia comprises the majority 
of economic activity in the CIS and risk factors 
and uncertainties applying to Russian should, in 
varying degrees, also apply to other CIS member 
countries. This also applies for the Baltic States. 

Emerging market economies, such as those in 
Russia, other CIS member states and the Baltic 
States are subject to greater risk than more de-
veloped markets (including in some cases sig-
nificant economic, political and social and legal 
and tax risks). Also, events in these countries are 
sometimes subject to rapid change. Conse-
quently, information set out in this section 
could become outdated relatively quickly. More-
over, during times of financial uncertainty, com-
panies operating in emerging markets could 
face severe liquidity constraints as foreign 
funding sources are withdrawn.  

2. Risk factors – ENR’s investment 
environment

ENR’s investment activities in Russia, other CIS 
countries and the Baltic States involve a high 

degree of risk and special considerations not 
typically associated with investments in more 
highly regulated environments apply.

Economic Risks in Russia

Economic instability in Russia could adversely 
impact ENR’s operations as well as its invest-
ments and growth strategy The economy of 
Russia for the first ten years after the dissolu-
tion of the Soviet Union was at various times 
characterised by:
• significant declines in GDP;
• hyperinflation;
• increase in, or high interest rates;
• an unstable currency;
• high government debt relative to GDP;
• lack of reform in the banking sector and a 

weak banking system providing limited 
liquidity to Russian businesses;

• high levels of loss-making enterprises 
continuing to operate due to the lack of 
effective bankruptcy proceedings;

• use of barter transactions and illiquid 
promissory notes to settle commercial 
transactions; 

• widespread tax evasion;
• growth of a black and grey market economy;
• pervasive capital flight; 
• high levels of corruption and the penetration 

of organised crime into the economy;
• significant increases in unemployment and 

under employment;
• the impoverishment of a large portion of the 

Russian population;
• lower growth cycles;

Risk Factors
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• liquidity constraints;
• sudden price declines in the natural resources 

sector and 
• use of fraudulent bankruptcy actions in order 

to take unlawful possession of property.

For example, in August 1998 in the face of a 
rapidly deteriorating economic situation, the 
Russian government defaulted on its Rouble de-
nominated securities, the CBR stopped its sup-
port of the Rouble and a temporary moratorium 
was imposed on certain hard currency pay-
ments. These actions resulted in an immediate 
and severe devaluation of the Rouble and a 
sharp increase in the rate of inflation, a dramat-
ic decline in the prices of Russian debt and eq-
uity securities, and an inability of Russian issu-
ers to raise funds in the international capital 
markets. These problems were aggravated by the 
near collapse of the Russian banking sector in 
connection with the same events. This further 
impaired the ability of the banking sector to act 
as a reliable source of liquidity to Russian com-
panies and resulted in the widespread loss of 
bank deposits.

The economy rebounded in 1999 and 2000 (GDP 
grew by some 5.4% in 1999 and 8.3% in 2000), 
primarily due to the weak Rouble and an increas-
ing trade surplus driven by rising world oil prices. 
This recovery and renewed government effort in 
2000 to advance structural reforms, caused busi-
ness and investor confidence to rise and lead to 
strong GDP growth for a number of years. During 
this time and today Russia remains heavily de-
pendent on export of commodities, particularly 

oil, natural gas, metals, and timber, which ac-
counted for the majority of exports making Rus-
sia vulnerable to changes in world commodity 
prices. From 2000 until first half 2008, Russia ex-
perienced rapid growth in its GDP, there were 
higher tax collections and increased stability in 
the Rouble. Between 2004 and 2009 the ratio of 
government debt to GDP decreased from 32% to 
6.5% with a switch from external to internal bor-
rowings and the early repayment of external debt. 
Russia benefited from the increase in global com-
modity prices, spurring, amongst other things 
rising disposable income and consumer spending 
and enjoyed a period of budget surpluses. The 
economic crisis which started in 2008 eventually 
caused a 5.9% budget deficit in 2009. 

However during 2008 and part of 2009, after a 
period of sustained high growth, the Russian 
economy was adversely impacted by the global 
financial and economic crisis that began in the 
second half of 2008. This manifested itself 
through significant volatility in world debt and 
equity markets, reductions in foreign invest-
ment and sharp decreases in GDP around the 
world. The economy in Russia was also greatly 
impacted by the crisis and 2008 turned out to 
be one of the most challenging equity, credit 
and economic environments in the past century. 
Real GDP growth also contracted by 7.9% in 
2009.  Any sustained deterioration of the eco-
nomic situation in the world may impact nega-
tively on Russia, which in turn, could have an 
adverse impact on ENR investments and ulti-
mately on the value of ENR shares.
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In July and August 2010, a series of fires broke 
out across Western Russia and around Moscow, 
covering at one stage some 193’000 hectares. 
The fires, combined with a summer drought and 
record high temperatures, resulted in a decline in 
the Russian harvest. This increased the demand 
for imported grain. The costs associated with 
controlling and fighting the fires, addressing en-
vironmental matters and repairing damage may 
have a negative impact on the Russian economy.

Any deterioration in the general economic con-
ditions in Russia, could adversely impact ENR 
investments and ultimately the ENR NAV and/or 
the value of ENR shares.  

The risk of a lower growth environment
The Russian economy still has structural weak-
nesses. Accordingly, there can be no assurance 
that positive trends in the Russian economy, 
such as the increase in GDP, a relatively stable 
Rouble, healthy foreign exchange reserves will 
continue or not be abruptly reversed.

The risk of Rouble depreciation
Prior to 2005, a policy of gradual nominal Rou-
ble depreciation, in the face of strong oil-related 
inflows, caused inflation to become entrenched 
at a relatively high level. Since then, increased 
Rouble appreciation as a result of greater ex-
change rate flexibility has helped set inflation, 
and inflationary expectations, on a downward 
path. However, from mid 2008, due to the im-
pact of the lower liquidity situation, lower oil 
and commodity prices etc, the Rouble become 
under pressure. 

A weaker rouble undermines the Rouble bond 
market sentiment. The Rouble outlook will shape 
market sentiment in the Rouble bond market in 
the near term. Foreign investors who are still 
positioned in Rouble bonds may wish to close 
long positions – increasing pressure on Rouble 
bonds in the short term.

One of the main challenges in 2009 for the CBR 
in the foreign exchange markets was linked to 
significant foreign debt from financial and non-
financial sectors. This lead to CBR intervention in 
the foreign exchange market and adjustments to 
the exchange rate policy to meet changing exter-
nal and internal conditions by, for example, ex-
panding limits of permissible fluctuations in the 
bi-currency basket. The timing and impact of fu-
ture CBR interventions and policy shifts may lead 
to Rouble depreciation, which, in turn, could have 
an adverse impact on ENR investments and ulti-
mately the ENR NAV and/or value of ENR shares.  

Russian economy is vulnerable to global 
economic downturns and is highly dependent 
on world commodity prices
The Russian economy is vulnerable to market 
downturns and economic slowdown elsewhere 
in the world. As in the past, an increase in the 
perceived risks associated with investing in 
emerging economies could dampen foreign in-
vestment in Russia and adversely impact the 
Russian economy. 

As Russia produces and exports large quantities 
of crude oil, natural gas and other commodities, 
the Russian economy is very vulnerable to fluc-
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tuations in world commodity prices, as well as 
crude oil and natural gas prices on the world 
markets (prices reached record high levels in 
mid-2008, have since seen significant declines, 
particularly the decline in the crude oil price in 
the second half of 2008 – which subsequently 
recovered dramatically again in early 2011). 
A sustained decline in the price of crude oil, nat-
ural gas or other commodities could further dis-
rupt the Russian economy, which could have an 
adverse impact on ENR’s investments and ulti-
mately the value of the ENR NAV and/or the 
value of ENR shares.

Traditional Russian oil deposits are also declin-
ing and oil companies are facing high capital 
investment for new exploration and expansion. 
A lower oil price could encourage a shift of capi-
tal investment from refining to upstream devel-
opment. In 2008 Rosprirodnadzor, Russia’s Fed-
eral Service for Supervising Natural Resources 
reported that that it had received notification 
from a number of oil companies who intended 
to reduce their exploration investments in 2009. 
Major Russian oil companies, at times, have also 
cut investment programs to meet debt repay-
ments. These companies may postpone invest-
ments in less attractive exploration areas for 
some time.

The impact of a lower liquidity situation for 
Russian companies
After the 2008 world financial crisis, Russia suf-
fered for a period from a lack of liquidity in its 
banking sector. After a a number of government 
interventions by the CBR and Ministry of Fi-

nance, liquidity to the banking sector increased 
and these packages were geared to stimulate 
growth and increase lending again. By end 2009 
these programs were partially successful, but 
the economic environment was still difficult and 
banks were reluctant to lend. In 2010 liquidity 
has returned to the market, but banks continued 
to be very cautious with their lending. A lower 
liquidity environment or reduced bank lending 
could adversely impact future economic growth, 
which in turn could have an adverse impact on 
ENR investments and ultimately the value of the 
ENR NAV and/or ENR shares.  

The physical infrastructure in Russia is in poor 
condition, which could disrupt normal business 
activity
Much of the physical infrastructure dates back 
to Soviet Union times and has not been ade-
quately upgraded or maintained since Soviet 
Union dissolution. The rail and road networks; 
electric power generation, transmission and dis-
tribution; district heating systems and water 
utilities; communication systems; and building 
stock are impacted here. Electricity and heating 
shortages in some of the regions have disrupted 
local economies. Other parts of Russia face sim-
ilar challenges, or may be expected to face them 
in the not too distant future. The government is 
and has been reorganising the rail, electricity 
and telephone systems. This could result in in-
creasing charges and tariffs while failing to 
generate the anticipated capital investment re-
quired to repair, maintain and improve these 
systems. The deterioration of physical infra-
structure harms the national economy, disrupts 
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access to communications, adds costs to doing 
business in Russia and can interrupt business 
operations. This could have an adverse impact 
on ENR investments and therefore could ad-
versely impact ENR investments and ultimately 
the value the ENR NAV and/or ENR shares.  

The official credit rating for Russia has a 
material impact on investor sentiment
Ratings of agencies such as S&P, Moody’s and 
Fitch are important as they impact on invest-
ment sentiment towards Russia and ratings, for 
example, of its sovereign bonds. In future Russia 
may be downgraded or rating agencies may re-
frain from assigning further rating improve-
ments. Both scenarios may deter investors from 
investing in Russia and reduce the potential 
capital inflows into Russia and commercial 
banks may limit their financing of assets in Rus-
sia or seek to reduce existing risks. This could 
have an adverse impact on ENR investments and 
therefore could adversely impact ENR invest-
ments and ultimately the value of the ENR NAV 
and/or ENR shares.  

The Russian banking and financial system 
remains underdeveloped and another banking 
crisis could place liquidity constraints on ENR 
portfolio companies and adversely impact on 
their financial condition
The Russian banking and other financial systems 
are not well developed or regulated and Russian 
legislation relating to banks and bank accounts 
may be subject to varying interpretations and 
inconsistent application. The 1998 financial cri-
ses resulted in the bankruptcy and liquidation of 

many Russian banks and almost entirely elimi-
nated the developing market for commercial 
bank loans at that time. From April 2004 to July 
2004, the Russian banking sector experienced 
its first serious turmoil since the August 1998 
financial crisis. As a result of various rumours 
and, in some cases, certain regulatory and li-
quidity problems, several privately owned Rus-
sian banks experienced liquidity problems and 
were unable to attract funds on the inter-bank 
market or from their client base. Several of these 
privately owned Russian banks collapsed or 
ceased or severely limited their operations. Rus-
sian banks owed or controlled by the Govern-
ment or the CBR and foreign owned banks gen-
erally were not adversely impacted by the 
turmoil. 

Many Russian banks do not meet international 
banking standards and the transparency of the 
Russian banking sector still lags behind interna-
tionally accepted norms in certain respects. 
Banking supervision is also often inadequate, 
and as a result, many Russian banks do not fol-
low existing CBR regulations with respect to 
lending criteria, credit quality, loan loss re-
serves, diversification of exposure or other re-
quirements. The imposition of more stringent 
regulations or interpretations could lead to de-
terminations of inadequate capital and the in-
solvency of some banks.

Prior to the 2008 global financial crises which 
continued into 2009, there had been a rapid in-
crease in lending by Russian banks, which mar-
ket commentators believed was accompanied by 
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a deterioration in the credit quality of the bor-
rowers. In addition, a robust domestic corporate 
debt market was leading to Russian banks in-
creasingly holding large amounts of Russian 
corporate Rouble denominated bonds in their 
portfolios, which further deteriorated the risk 
profile of Russian bank assets.

The serious deficiencies in the Russian banking 
sector, combined with the deterioration in the 
credit portfolios of Russian banks, may result in 
the banking sector being more susceptible to 
market downturns or economic slowdowns, in-
cluding due to Russian corporate defaults that 
may occur during any such market downturn or 
economic slowdown. The global financial crisis 
led to the collapse or bailout of some Russian 
banks and to significant liquidity constraints for 
others. Profitability levels of most Russian banks 
were adversely affected by the crisis. As a result, 
the Government injected substantial funds into 
the banking system amidst reports of difficul-
ties among Russian banks and other financial 
institutions.   

Another banking crisis or the bankruptcy or in-
solvency of any bank with who ENR or one of its 
portfolio companies do business could adversely 
impact ENR or the portfolio company business. 
Another banking crises or the bankruptcy or in-
solvency any bank which holds ENR or its port-
folio company funds could result in the loss of 
funds or income or impact its ability to complete 
banking transactions in Russia, which could have 
a material adverse impact on ENR or its portfolio 
company business, results, operations, financial 

condition and prospects. Furthermore, any 
shortage of funds or other disruptions to the 
banking system which may be experienced by 
ENR or its portfolio companies from time to 
time, could have a material adverse impact to 
complete any planned expansion or development 
or to obtain finance required for planned growth 
and could then have a material adverse impact 
on ENR or its portfolio company business and 
the value of the ENR NAV and/or ENR shares.

Labour shortages
Any tightness in the labour market may cause 
shortages of certain skills and, inter alia, can be 
a contributing factor to higher wages. This could 
contribute to lower gross profits of businesses, 
which could adversely impact ENR or its portfo-
lio companies and the value of the ENR NAV 
and/or ENR shares.

The risk of a higher inflation environment
The Russian economy has been characterised by 
high rates of inflation. The annual average infla-
tion rate was 11.9% in 2007; 13.3% in 2008; 
8.8% in 2009 and 8.8% in 2010. Russian offi-
cials have in 2008 stated that the intervention 
of the government in the in the equity and mon-
ey markets has increased inflationary pressure 
and expect the rescue measures to contribute to 
year-on-year consumer inflation by one to two 
percentage points. This is an example of the im-
pact of any such intervention. Inflationary pres-
sures may further increase in future and there is 
no guarantee that official government forecasts 
for inflation will not be exceeded, which could 
impact negatively on growth, which could have 
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an adverse impact on ENR or its portfolio com-
panies and the value of the ENR NAV and/or ENR 
shares.

Market risk in Russia
Investments in Russia may be highly volatile. 
Price movements are influenced by a wide vari-
ety of factors. World commodity price move-
ments, particularly crude oil and gas, which was 
discussed elsewhere, will impact on economic 
and corporate performance in Russia. Other fac-
tors include, but are not limited to, changing 
supply and demand relationships, government, 
trade, fiscal, monetary and exchange control 
programmes and policies, national and interna-
tional political and economic events as well as 
changes in interest rates. In addition, from time 
to time governments intervene in certain mar-
kets. Such interventions are often intended to 
influence prices. Any adverse movement could 
have a negative impact on ENR or its invest-
ments and the value of the ENR NAV and/or ENR 
shares.

Political, Social and Regulatory Risks in 
Russia

Political instability in Russia could negatively 
impact the value of ENR’s investments
Since 1991, Russia has moved from a one-party 
state with a centrally-planned economy to a 
federal republic with democratic institutions 
and a market-oriented economy. Yet the Russian 
political system remains vulnerable to popular 
dissatisfaction, for example dissatisfaction with 
the result of privatisations in the 1990s, as well 

as to demands for autonomy from particular re-
gional and ethnic groups. The course of political 
and economic reform has in some respect been 
uneven, and the composition of the Russian 
government – the prime minister and the other 
heads of federal ministries – has at times been 
unstable. For example, six different prime minis-
ters headed government between March 1998 
and May 2000. Throughout most of his first 
four-year term of office, Mr. Putin maintained 
governmental stability. Elections to the lower 
house of the legislature, the State Duma, in De-
cember 2003 resulted in a substantial majority 
for parties sympathetic to Mr. Putin. In February 
2004, just before his election to a second term 
as president, Mr. Putin dismissed his entire cabi-
net, including the prime minister. He then ap-
pointed Mr. Mikhail Fradkov as prime minister 
and issued a presidential decree that signifi-
cantly reduced the number of federal ministries, 
redistributed certain functions amongst various 
agencies of the Russian government and an-
nounced plans for a major overhaul of the fed-
eral administrative system. Many of these 
changes have since been implemented. Mr. Putin 
also announced and implemented a proposal 
that the executives of sub-federal political units 
no longer be elected by the population, but in-
stead be nominated by the President of Russia 
and confirmed by the legislature of the sub-fed-
eral political unit. Mr. Putin has also eliminated 
individual races for the State Duma, and that all 
votes would instead be cast for political parties.

Future changes in government, major policy shifts 
or lack of consensus between various branches of 
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the government and powerful economic groups 
could also disrupt or reverse economic and regu-
latory reforms. The December 2007 parliamentary 
elections were held under new rules which pro-
hibit candidates from running as independents 
from single-mandate electoral districts and depu-
ties could only be elected as members of a party 
that receives at least seven per cent of all the  
votes cast (previously five per cent). The subse-
quent transition from Mr. Putin to Mr. Dmitry 
Medvedev as President went smoothly. There is no 
certainty that the stable political situation will 
remain.

Possible future governmental changes, possible 
major policy shifts or a possible lack of consen-
sus internally between the President, the Gov-
ernment, Russia’s  parliament and powerful eco-
nomic groups may lead to political instability, 
which could have a material adverse impact on 
ENR’s investments and therefore could adverse-
ly impact on the value of the ENR NAV and/or 
ENR shares. 

Political conflicts create an uncertain operating 
environment that hinders ENR and its portfolio 
companies’ long-term planning ability and 
could adversely impact the value of its invest-
ments in Russia
The delineation of authority among the many 
districts, regions, internal republics and the fed-
eral government in Russia, as well as among co-
ordinate branches of government, is often un-
clear. The Russian political system is vulnerable 
to tensions and conflicts among federal, region-
al and local authorities over various matters, in-

cluding land ownership, tax revenues, regulatory 
authority and regional autonomy. Similar ten-
sions and conflicts may also exist among vari-
ous regulatory authorities within the federal 
government or within any given regional or local 
government. The resultant lack of co-ordination 
between the federal government and local or re-
gional authorities has often resulted in the en-
actment of conflicting legislation at various lev-
els. Some of these laws, and governmental and 
administrative decisions implementing them, as 
well as certain transactions concluded pursuant 
to them, have in the past been challenged in the 
courts, and such challenges may occur in the 
future.

Regional political conflicts between Russia and 
its neighboring countries could also be very dis-
ruptive and in a worst case scenario spill over in 
longer term regional conflict and/or war, as was 
seen recently with the war in Georgia over a dis-
pute over the break-away areas of South Ossetia 
and Abkhazia. As a result of the conflict the 
Russian stock exchanges experienced height-
ened volatility. The deployment of Russian war-
ships to blockade ports along the Georgian 
Black Sea coast threatened to draw Ukraine into 
the conflict as it had indicated that it might re-
fuse to permit Russian warships participating in 
the blockade to return to their home port of 
Sevastopol on the Crimean peninsula. Although 
the Crimean peninsula is in Ukrainian territory, it 
has been claimed by various high ranking Rus-
sian politicians to belong to Russia for a variety 
of ethnic and historical reasons.
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Historically the relationship between Russia and 
Ukraine has been strained due to a dispute 
about Ukraine’s failure to pay or delay paying 
arrears relating to the supply of energy resourc-
es, other border disputes and Gazprom decisions 
to increase the price of natural gas sold to 
Ukraine. The possible Ukraine and Georgia ac-
cession to NATO and the EU is a significant 
source of tension between Russia and those 
countries. If disputes with Ukraine were to dis-
rupt or reduce the flow of Russia’s trade with 
Ukraine, or through Ukrainian ports or pipelines, 
Russian exports and/or export capacity could be 
adversely impacted.

Any such political and legal factors may hinder 
ENR and its portfolio companies long-term 
planning efforts and create uncertainties in its 
operating environment, both of which may in-
hibit or prevent the implementation of growth 
strategies and may adversely impact ENR’s port-
folio company operations in Russia and there-
fore could adversely impact on the value of the 
ENR NAV and/or ENR shares.

Crime and corruption could disrupt ENR or its 
portfolio companies ability to conduct business 
in Russia
The political and economic changes in Russia 
since the early 1990s have resulted, at times, in 
pervasive lawlessness. Government officials, 
from time to time, have been reported to en-
gage in selective investigations, prosecutions 
and impositions of sanctions to further person-
al, political or pecuniary interests and agendas, 
whether on their own initiative or at the instiga-

tion of private third parties (including business 
competitors of the targets of such government 
actions). Bribery in Russian business does exist, 
and is of particular concern in the construction 
industry. A significant number of Russian media 
organisations act as conduits for smear cam-
paigns and publish biased articles in return for 
payment. Any allegation of involvement in these 
or other questionable practices would pose a 
risk of prosecution and of possible civil, criminal 
or administrative liability.

In addition, the use of governmental power 
against particular companies or persons, for ex-
ample, through the tax, environmental or prose-
cutorial authorities, could adversely impact the 
Russian economic climate and, if directed against 
ENR portfolio companies, its senior manage-
ment, its major shareholders or beneficial own-
ers, the portfolio company’s business, financial 
condition, results of operations and prospects 
could suffer, which could in turn adversely im-
pact the value of ENR shares. Russian authorities 
have challenged some Russian companies and 
prosecuted their executive officers and share-
holders on tax evasion and related charges. In 
some cases, the results of such prosecutions and 
challenges have been significant claims against 
companies for unpaid taxes and the imposition 
of prison sentences on individuals. There has 
been speculation that in certain cases these 
challenges and prosecutions were intended to 
punish and deter opposition to the Government 
or the pursuit of political or economic agendas. 
There has also been speculation that certain en-
vironmental challenges brought by Russian au-
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thorities in the oil and gas as well as mining sec-
tors have been targeted at specific Russian 
businesses under non-Russian control, with the 
view to bringing them under state control. More 
generally, some observers have noted that take-
overs of major private sector companies in the 
oil and gas sector by state controlled companies 
following tax, environmental and other challeng-
es may reflect a shift in official policy in favour 
of state control at the expense of individual or 
private ownership, at least where large and im-
portant enterprises are concerned.

Regulatory authorities in Russia also have a high 
degree of discretion and at times appear to ex-
ercise their discretion arbitrarily, without hear-
ing or prior notice. Such actions have reportedly 
included denial or withdrawal of licences, sud-
den and unexpected tax audits, criminal prose-
cutions, civil actions and expropriation of prop-
erty. Arbitrary Goverment action, if directed 
against ENR portfolio companies or its senior 
management, its major shareholders or benefi-
cial owners, could result in the the portfolio 
company’s business, financial condition, results 
of operations and prospects to suffer, which 
could in turn adversely impact the value of the 
ENR NAV and/or ENR shares.

Social instability could result in increased 
violence and support for renewed centralisation 
of authority, renationalisation or expropriation 
of property and limitations on foreign 
investment
In the past, the Government and certain private 
enterprises failed to pay full salaries to its em-

ployees and salaries and benefits generally have 
not kept pace with the rapidly increasing cost of 
living. Should any similar situation occur in fu-
ture, it could lead to labour and social unrest. 
The elimination of many subsidised services for 
pensioners in January 2005 led to large-scale 
nationwide protests, which caused the govern-
ment to re-evaluate the scope and pace of its 
program to reform distortionary economic poli-
cies. Civil unrest may have other significant po-
litical, social and economic consequences, such 
as increased violence and support for renewed 
centralisation of authority; renationalisation or 
expropriation of property; or restrictions on for-
eign involvement in the economy of Russia. Any 
of these factors could have an adverse impact 
on ENR investments and therefore could ad-
versely impact the value of the ENR NAV and/or 
ENR shares.

Terrorist attacks
Ethnic, religious, historical and other divisions 
have, on occasion, given rise to tensions and, in 
certain cases, military conflict, which can halt 
normal economic activity and disrupt the econ-
omies of neighboring regions. For example, vio-
lence and attacks relating to the Chechen con-
flict have spread to other parts of Russia and 
several terrorist attacks have been carried out in 
other parts of Russia, including Moscow. The 
further intensification of violence, including ter-
rorist attacks and suicide bombings, or its 
spread to other parts of Russia, could have sig-
nificant political consequences, including the 
imposition of a state of emergency in some or 
all of Russia. Moreover, terrorist attacks and the 
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resulting heightened security measures are like-
ly to cause disruptions to domestic commerce 
and exports from Russia. These factors could 
materially adversely impact ENR investments 
and therefore could adversely impact the value 
of the ENR NAV and/or ENR shares.

The immaturity of and weaknesses relating to 
the Russian legal system, processes, practices 
and legislation create an uncertain environment 
for investment and business activity and may 
adversely impact ENR investments and the value 
of the ENR NAV and/or ENR shares  
Risk associated with Russia’s legal system in-
clude, to varying degrees, inconsistencies be-
tween and among laws, presidential decrees, 
edicts and governmental and ministerial orders 
and resolutions, conflicting local, regional and 
federal rules and regulations; the lack of judicial 
and administrative guidance regarding the in-
terpretation of the applicable rules; the untest-
ed nature of the independence of the judiciary 
and its immunity from political, social and com-
mercial influences, the relative inexperience of 
jurists, judges and courts in interpreting recent-
ly enacted legislation and complex commercial 
arrangements; a high degree of unchecked dis-
cretion on the part of governmental authorities; 
alleged corruption within the judiciary and gov-
ernmental authorities; substantial gaps in the 
regulatory structure due to delays in or absence 
of implementing regulations; bankruptcy proce-
dures that are not well developed and are sub-
ject to abuse; and the lack of binding judicial 
precedent. All of these weaknesses could nega-
tively impact ENR portfolio companies and their 

ability to protect their legal rights, including 
rights under contracts and to defend against 
claims by others. This, in turn, could adversely 
impact the value of the ENR NAV and/or ENR 
shares.

The relatively recent enactment of many laws, the 
lack of consensus about the scope, content and 
pace of political and economic reform and the 
rapid evolution of legal systems in ways that may 
not always coincide with market developments 
have resulted in legal ambiguities, inconsistencies 
and anomalies and, in certain cases, the enact-
ment of laws without a clear constitutional or 
legislative basis. Legal and bureaucratic obstacles 
and corruption exist to varying degrees and fac-
tors such as these could adversely impact ENR 
portfolio companies and the value of the ENR 
NAV and/or ENR shares.

Additionally, the independence of the judicial 
system and the prosecutor general’s office and 
their immunity from economic and political in-
fluences in Russia are subject to doubt. The 
court system is understaffed and under-funded. 
Judges and courts remain inexperienced in cer-
tain areas of business and corporate law, such 
as international financial transactions. Russia is 
a civil law jurisdiction where judicial precedents 
generally have no binding effect on subsequent 
decisions. Not all Russian legislation and court 
decisions are readily available to the pubic or or-
ganized in a manner that facilitates understand-
ing. The Russian judicial system can be slow and 
court orders are not always enforced or fol-
lowed by law enforcement agencies. Additional-
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ly, the press has often reported that court claims 
and governmental prosecutions are sometimes 
influenced by or used in furtherance of political 
aims or private interests. ENR portfolio compa-
nies may be subject to such claims and may not 
be able to receive a fair hearing. All of these  
factors make judicial decisions in Russia diffi-
cult to predict and effective redress uncertain, 
which could have a material adverse impact on 
ENR portfolio companies and the value of the 
ENR NAV and/or ENR shares.

These uncertainties also extend to property 
rights. During its transformation from a central-
ly planned economy to a market economy, Rus-
sia has enacted laws to protect private property 
against expropriation and nationalization. How-
ever, due to a lack of experience in enforcing 
these provisions and due to political pressure, 
Russian courts might not enforce these protec-
tions in the event of an attempted expropriation 
or nationalization. Expropriation or nationaliza-
tion of any ENR portfolio company could mate-
rially impact on the value of such investment 
and the value of the ENR NAV and/or ENR shares.

In 2001, the Russian Civil Code was amended 
and a new code and a number of other federal 
laws regulating land use and ownership were en-
acted. Nevertheless, the legal framework relating 
to ownership and use of land and other real es-
tate in Russia is not yet sufficiently developed to 
support private ownership of land and other real 
estate to the same extent as is common in coun-
tries with more developed market economies. 
This may cause uncertainties and have a material 

adverse impact on ENR portfolio companies and 
the value of the ENR NAV and/or ENR shares.

Law relating to Russian corporate governance 
and control is subject to inconsistent applica-
tion and difficult to enforce
Corporate governance standards in Russia are 
not as developed as corporate governance stan-
dards in Western Europe. Corporate governance 
practices in Russia have suffered from a lack of 
transparency and informational disclosure (both 
to the public and to shareholders), a lack of in-
dependence of directors and insufficient regula-
tory oversight and protection of shareholder 
rights. The lack of such transparency may cause 
uncertainties and have a material adverse im-
pact on ENR portfolio companies and the value 
of the ENR NAV and/or ENR shares.

Restrictive currency regulations 
Notwithstanding significant recent liberaliza-
tion of the Russian currency control regime and 
the abolishment of certain restrictions in Janu-
ary 2007, the Federal Law No. 173-FZ “On Cur-
rency Regulation and Currency Control” of 10 
December 2003, as amended, current regula-
tions still contain a number of limitations on 
foreign currency  operations. When opening, 
closing or changing details of bank accounts lo-
cated outside Russia, Russian companies must 
notify the Russian tax authorities within one 
month. Additionally, certain currency control re-
strictions were not repealed, including a general 
prohibition on foreign currency control opera-
tions between Russian companies (with certain 
limited exceptions) and, subject to certain ex-
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emptions, the requirement to repatriate export-
related earnings to Russia. Restrictions such as 
these may prevent the ENR portfolio companies 
from continuing necessary business operations, 
or successfully implementing their growth strat-
egies. As a result of the state of the banking 
sector, some delays may occur in the transfer of 
funds within Russia and the remittance of funds 
out of Russia. Any delay or other difficulty in 
transferring or remitting funds could limit such 
company’s ability to meet payment obligations 
and cross-default, and in turn have a material 
adverse impact on its business, financial condi-
tion, results of operation, prospects and value, 
which may impact negatively on the ENR NAV 
and/or the value of the ENR shares.

Russian tax system
In general, taxes payable by Russian companies 
are substantial and numerous. These taxes in-
clude, among others – profit tax; value-added 
tax; property taxes; excise duties, payroll-relat-
ed taxes and other taxes.

Over the past decade, the Government has re-
formed the tax system. This resulted in some im-
provement in the tax climate. The cornerstone of 
this reform was the introduction of the Tax Code 
of Russia (“Russian Tax Code”), which included a 
successive reduction of general corporate profits 
tax rate from 35% to 20%. Personal income tax 
has been reduced substantially for individuals 
who are tax residents in Russia and the general 
tax rate for such individuals is currently 13%. The 
general rate of VAT has been reduced to 18%, and 
certain minor taxes have been abolished.

Russian tax laws, regulations and court practice 
are subject to frequent change, varying inter-
pretations and inconsistent and selective en-
forcement. In some instances, although it may 
be viewed as contrary to Russian constitutional 
law, the Russian tax authorities have applied 
certain new taxes retroactively, issued tax 
claims for periods for which the statute of limi-
tations had expired and reviewed the same tax 
period multiple times.

Despite the Government’s steps to reduce the 
overall tax burden, Russia’s largely ineffective tax 
collection system and continuing budgetary 
funding requirements may increase the likelihood 
that Russia will impose arbitrary or onerous taxes 
and penalties in future, which could have a mate-
rial impact on the portfolio companies of ENR, 
which may then impact negatively on the ENR 
NAV and/or the value of the ENR shares.

Changes to the Russian Tax Code were intro-
duced recently with respect to the interest de-
duction on foreign currency loans (i.e. loans 
provided in any other currency other than the 
Russian Rouble) for a two year period from Jan-
uary 1, 2011. Recent amendments provide that a 
new threshold of 0.8 times the CBR refinancing 
rate will be applicable to foreign currency loans 
instead of 15% generally applicable before Jan-
uary 1, 2011. The law is silent on what rules will 
apply after 2012.

Current Russian tax legislation is, in general, 
based upon the former manner in which trans-
actions are documented, looking to form rather 

48



than substance. However, Russian tax authori-
ties are increasingly looking at substance over 
form. While certain reductions in the rates, such 
as for profit tax, have been done, it is expected 
that Russian tax legislation will become more 
sophisticated and introduce additional revenue 
raising measures. Although it is unclear how 
these provisions will operate, the introduction 
of any such provisions may impact on the over-
all tax efficiency of ENR portfolio companies 
and may result in significant additional taxes 
becoming payable, which could have a material 
impact on the portfolio companies of ENR, 
which may then impact negatively on the ENR 
NAV and/or the value of the ENR shares.

Further, following the replacement of the Uni-
fied Social Tax with mandatory contributions to 
the Social Security Fund, the Medical Insurance 
Fund and the Pension Fund from January 1, 
2010, the authorities responsible for these funds 
are empowered to carry out audits in relation to 
payments of contributions to the respective 
funds, resulting in an increase of the tax admin-
istration burden of ENR portfolio companies.

In July 2005 the Constitutional Court of Russia 
(“Constitutional Court”) issued a decision that 
allowed the statute of limitations for tax liabili-
ties to be extended beyond the three year term 
set forth in tax laws should the court determine 
that the taxpayer has obstructed or hindered 
the tax audit. Amendments to the Russian Tax 
Code, effective January 1, 2007, provide for the 
extension of the three year statute of limitations 
if the taxpayer actively obstructed the conduct 

of a tax audit, which created insurmountable 
barriers to the conduct of the tax audit. Because 
none of the relevant terms are defined in the 
Russian Tax Code, tax authorities may have a 
broad discretion to argue that the taxpayer has 
obstructed, hindered, actively obstructed or cre-
ated insurmountable barriers in respect of the 
tax audit and to ultimately seek a review and 
possibly apply penalties beyond the three year 
term, and there is no guarantee that the tax au-
thorities will not review the compliance of ENR 
portfolio companies with applicable tax law be-
yond the three year period. Tax audits may re-
sult in additional costs for these companies and 
such audits may impose additional burdens on 
these companies, diverting the attention of the 
management resources. The outcome of tax au-
dits and disputes may have a material adverse 
impact on ENR portfolio company business, fi-
nancial condition, results of operations and 
prospects which may then impact negatively on 
the ENR NAV and/or the value of ENR shares.

Generally, tax returns in Russia remain open and 
subject to tax audit by the tax authorities for 
the period of three calendar years immediately 
preceding the year in which the decision to con-
duct the tax audit is taken. The fact that a year 
has been reviewed by the tax authorities does 
not prevent further review of that year, or any 
tax return applicable to that year, during the eli-
gible three year period by a higher level tax au-
thority. In particular, a repeated tax audit may 
be conducted by a higher level tax authority as a 
measure of control of the activities of a lower 
level tax authority as a measure of the reorgani-
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zation/liquidation of a tax payer, or as a result of 
the filing by such taxpayer of an amended tax 
return decreasing the tax payable. On March 17, 
2009 the Constitutional Court issued a decision 
that prohibits Russian tax authorities from issu-
ing decisions in the course of subsequent tax 
audits for the same tax payer if a court decision 
given in respect of the tax dispute between the 
relevant taxpayer and the tax authority and 
covering taxation matters raised during the ini-
tial tax audit that has not been revised or 
changed. On November 11, 2009 the Constitu-
tional Court issued a second decision that con-
firms this position. Currently, it is unclear how 
these decisions will be applied and followed in 
practice by the Russian tax authorities. 

Russian transfer pricing rules are vaguely draft-
ed, generally leaving wide scope for interpreta-
tions by Russian tax authorities and courts. 
There has been very little guidance (although 
some court practice is available) as to how these 
rules should be applied. The Russian State Duma 
is currently considering a draft law that will 
substantially change transfer pricing rules 
where most of the provisions of this law will 
come into operation from February 1, 2011. 
These amendments are expected to introduce 
stricter transfer pricing rules. Currently, it is dif-
ficult to predict what the effect on tax payers 
will be. If the authorities were to impose signifi-
cant additional tax liabilities as a result of trans-
fer pricing amendments, it could have a material 
adverse impact on ENR portfolio companies 
business, financial condition, results of opera-
tions and prospects which may then impact 

negatively on the ENR NAV and/or the value of 
ENR shares.

New customs legislation became effective in 
2010 as a result of the customs union between 
Russia, Belarus and Kazakhstan. Currently, proce-
dures and practices relating to the application of 
certain provisions of the new customs legislation 
are uncertain. A number of draft legislative acts 
regulating cross-border operations are under 
consideration and have not come into force. In 
light of this, Russian importers may encounter 
certain obstacles (which could result in additional 
customs liabilities) as a result of the ambiguity of 
new customs legislation.    

In practice, minority shareholders have minimal 
legal recourse against companies or their 
officers and directors in Russia
Corporate governance standards for most Rus-
sian companies have been poor, and minority 
shareholders in Russian companies have experi-
enced difficulties in enforcing their legal rights 
and have suffered losses due to, for example, 
abusive share dilutions, asset transfers and trans-
fer pricing practices. Shareholders’ meetings 
have been irregularly conducted, and shareholder 
resolutions have not always been respected by 
management. Shareholders of some companies 
also suffered as a result of fraudulent bankrupt-
cies initiated by hostile creditors. Despite the re-
cent enactment of corporate governance, disclo-
sure and reporting requirements and anti-money 
laundering legislation, most Russian companies 
and managers are not accustomed to, and resist, 
restrictions on their activities arising from these 
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requirements. In addition, although the Federal 
Law on Stock Companies provides that share-
holders owning not less than one percent of the 
company’s shares may bring an action against 
members of the management board for damages 
incurred by the company, the concept of such fi-
duciary-type duties of officers or directors to 
their companies or shareholders is new to Rus-
sian law and derivative lawsuits by shareholders 
on behalf of the company are not possible. Rus-
sian courts therefore do not as yet have suffi-
cient experience with respect to cases based on 
such causes of action, as a result of which, ade-
quate remedies for violations of minority share-
holder rights may still not be available in practice. 
Accordingly, ENR portfolio company rights may 
be violated (or by the officers and directors of 
such companies), and their ability to pursue legal 
redress for such violations may be limited, which 
may adversely impact the value of ENR’s invest-
ments in such companies. 

Russian courts may force a Russian legal entity 
into liquidation on the basis of formal non-
compliance with certain requirements of 
Russian law in Russia
Certain provisions of Russian law may allow a 
court to order liquidation of a Russian legal entity 
on the basis of its formal non-compliance with 
certain requirements during the formation of 
such entity or during its operation. Although, like 
many other Russian companies, ENR portfolio 
companies (or their subsidiaries) may fail from 
time to time to fully comply with all applicable 
legal requirements. Weaknesses in the Russian 
legal system create an uncertain legal environ-

ment, which makes the decisions of a Russian 
court or a governmental authority difficult, if not 
impossible, to predict and it could have an ad-
verse impact on ENR’s investments. This may 
then impact negatively on the ENR NAV and/or 
the value of ENR shares.

Past transactions of ENR’s portfolio companies 
and their subsidiaries may be challenged under 
mandatory provisions of Russian law
ENR’s portfolio companies and their subsidiaries 
(and their predecessor entities at different times) 
may have taken a variety of actions involving es-
tablishment of new business organisations, share 
issuances, share acquisitions and disposals, valua-
tions of property, so-called “major transactions” 
and “interested party transactions”, transactions 
with state authorities, state-owned entities and 
other transactions and actions that, if success-
fully challenged on the basis of non-compliance 
with applicable legal requirements by competent 
state authorities, counterparties in such transac-
tions, shareholders of the relevant companies (or 
their predecessors’ interest) or other interested 
parties, could result in invalidation of such trans-
actions or actions or imposition of other liabilities. 
The applicable provisions of Russian law are sub-
ject to different interpretations and there can be 
no assurance that the relevant companies would 
be able to successfully defend any challenge 
brought against such transactions or actions. In-
validation of any such transactions or actions or 
imposition of any such liability may, individually 
or in the aggregate, have an adverse impact on 
ENR investments. This may then impact negatively 
on the ENR NAV and/or the value of ENR shares.
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Environmental risks in Russia
The lack of environmental controls in Russia has 
led to widespread pollution of the air, ground 
and water resources. The legislated environmen-
tal standards are not comparable to those of 
Western Europe and therefore pollution-related 
liabilities of any business may not be determin-
able at the time ENR is considering any invest-
ment which may be impacted by environmental 
issues.

Future investments in Russia may be subject to 
strict environmental requirements and compli-
ance with health, safety and environmental laws 
and regulations may then have a material ad-
verse impact on the financial position of a port-
folio company (and hence on the financial posi-
tion of ENR). New environmental laws and 
regulations in Russia may require tougher re-
quirements for environmental permits and li-
cences, increasing enforcement of or new inter-
pretations of existing laws, regulations of 
licences or the discovery of previously unknown 
areas of contamination. This may require future 
portfolio investment companies to incur addi-
tional expenditure to modify operations, install 
pollution control equipment, perform remedia-
tion, curtail or cease certain operations, or pay 
fees or fines or make other payments for the dis-
charge or other breaches of environmental stan-
dards. That could then have a material adverse 
impact on the financial performance of the rel-
evant portfolio company and consequently on 
the ENR NAV and/or the value of ENR shares.

3. Risk factors relating specifically to ENR

Limited diversification/leverage of individual 
investments
Subject to the Investment Guidelines, ENR could 
make or hold a portfolio investment, which, in 
the overall investment portfolio context, may 
represent a relatively large part of a particular 
asset class or industry segment. Such exposure 
may be increased through the use of leverage. 
Any adverse impact on such industry segment 
or a reduction in value of the relevant asset 
could have a negative impact on the ENR NAV 
and/or its share price. 

Historical returns on investments should not be 
considered as indicative of future results
The internal rate of returns (“IRR”) relating to 
any current and/or past investment of ENR may 
not be achieved for future investments. Inves-
tors should not assume that ENR will, for future 
investments, be able to achieve similar IRR’s as 
for past investments. Investment returns are de-
pendent on factors such as changes in economic 
conditions in markets where investments are 
made and many other matters (see part 2 of the 
risk factors above). Consequently, there is no 
guarantee or certainty that IRR’s will be similar 
as in the past. Further, it is also not certain that 
ENR may have access to similar investment op-
portunities as in the past and that may have an 
adverse impact on future investment returns, 
the ENR NAV and/or value of its shares.
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Service providers
ENR has no employees and outsources key ad-
ministrative functions such as financial report-
ing and internal control systems. This may re-
sult, at certain times, that ENR may potentially 
not be able to quickly attend to new operating 
challenges, deficiencies or weaknesses and that 
could have a material adverse impact on the 
ENR business and/or the value of ENR shares. 
ENR relies on an Investment Manager to per-
form services to ENR pursuant to an Investment 
Management agreement. The Investment Man-
ager deals with day-to-day operations and cer-
tain of its employees may have competing de-
mands for their time for other funds managed 
by the Investment Manager. Even though out-
side service providers are effectively supervised 
and coordinated, oversight may become increas-
ingly challenging as ENR continue to grow. This 
could have an adverse impact on ENR’s business 
and/or the value of ENR shares. ENR, in certain 
circumstances, may also not be able to employ 
outside service providers on market related 
terms and this may also negatively impact on 
ENR’s business and/or the value of ENR shares. 

Operating history and the limited comparability 
of historical financial information make it 
difficult to evaluate prospects
ENR may attract capital from outside investors 
periodically to increase its capital base and in-
crease available funding for investments. The 
amount of capital to be raised may be signifi-
cant relative to its NAV. Any capital injection  
and the subsequent utilization thereof could al-
ter the overall investment portfolio composi-

tion, making comparisons against prior histori-
cal periods difficult.

Factors such as, for example, the global finan-
cial crisis of 2008 and 2009, which impacted the 
economy in Russia, other members of the CIS 
and the Baltic States negatively, will influence 
the timing of investments. Any sustained dete-
rioration of the economic situation and/or in-
vestments made during adverse market cycles 
may have an adverse impact on ENR invest-
ments and ultimately on the value of ENR’s NAV 
and/or shares. Consequently, factors such as 
timing and nature of investments may impact 
on the ENR NAV and its ability to make further 
investments when market conditions are poised 
for or subject to a sustained recovery. There is 
no guarantee or certainty that ENR will, at all 
times, be successful in timing investments opti-
mally or avoid adverse market cycles and this 
may have an adverse impact on ENR’s business 
and/or the value of ENR shares or its NAV. 
 
Significant shareholders
Major shareholders of ENR could influence deci-
sions and resolutions to be resolved by the ENR 
shareholders’ at meetings of ENR shareholders. 
Interests of these shareholders, in certain cases, 
may differ from interests of other shareholders. 
This could result in disputes between sharehold-
ers and ultimately impact negatively on the ENR 
business, which may have a negative impact on 
the ENR shares.
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The preparation of ENR’s financial statements 
requires assumptions and estimates, and 
changes thereof cause a material change in its 
results of operations or financial condition
The preparation of ENR’s consolidated financial 
statements requires assumptions and estimates 
impacting on the reported amounts of assets, li-
abilities, revenues and expenses and disclosures 
of contingent liabilities. For example, past expe-
riences, ruling economic conditions and the 
market environment, quoted prices, transactions 
involving third parties and/or independent valu-
ations, are amongst the factors taken into ac-
count when considering carrying values of as-
sets and liabilities. Over time, carrying values 
may fluctuate, perhaps substantially, from those 
reflected in the financial statements, which may 
have an adverse impact on ENR’s results or fi-
nancial condition and on the value of the ENR’s 
NAV and/or shares.

Subsidiary or portfolio companies may be 
subject to certain tax risks in their jurisdiction 
of establishment
ENR will attempt to structure investments, in 
part or as a whole, to obtain tax efficiency. Any 
changes in tax laws or double tax treaties with 
jurisdictions where investment structures are 
based may materially impact on tax efficiencies 
and could result in additional tax liabilities, 
which ultimately may have an adverse impact 
on ENR’s results or financial condition and on 
the value of the ENR’s NAV and/or shares.

ENR generally holds its investments via subsid-
iary companies where investment structures 
may comprise, for example, of corporate enti-
ties, partnerships, joint ventures or other appro-
priate vehicles. Changes in legislation in relevant 
jurisdictions could result in additional taxation 
or other negative consequences which could 
then impact negatively on ENR and/or the value 
of ENR’s NAV and/or shares.

Potential conflict of interests
Due to their involvement in the financial and 
other industry sectors, Board members, the In-
vestment Manager or its employees and other 
parties performing administrative or related 
functions for ENR may have a direct or indirect 
interest in investments which are proposed for 
acquisition by ENR. 

Similarly, there may also be existing financial or 
other related interests. The Investment Manager 
will not provide services exclusively for ENR and 
will continue to either manage or accept new in-
vestment management mandates for assets of 
other institutional and/or private clients. Conse-
quently, potential conflicts of interest may arise 
as a result of the situations described above 
which could impact negatively on ENR or the 
value of ENR shares.
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Liquidity risk
Pursuant to its Investment Guidelines, ENR may 
invest in a range of different types of invest-
ments and situations and use various investment 
techniques, all which will bear certain risks and 
special considerations. For example, investments 
in unlisted investments will generally be illiquid 
whilst investments in certain listed equities could 
also be relatively illiquid. Therefore, ENR may not 
be able to optimally time the sale of investments 
which could impact negatively on the ENR busi-
ness and/or the value of ENR shares and/or NAV. 
 
Valuation methods of illiquid investments may 
be subjective and fair value of investments 
could not be realised
For private equity and certain non listed invest-
ments, there may be no readily ascertainable mar-
ket prices. ENR will determine the value of these 
investments in accordance with the valuation 
methodology which is set out in the notes to the 
financial statements contained in this annual re-
port. The fair value of these assets may not be re-
alised on exit thereof, which may have an adverse 
impact on the ENR NAV and/or the value of ENR 
shares.

Use of leverage to finance ENR’s business may 
expose it to substantial risk
Should ENR use borrowings to finance its busi-
ness and operations, it may expose ENR to typi-
cal risks associated with the use of such lever-
age. Accordingly, ENR may then experience a 
decline in the credit ratings assigned to it, which 
might lead to an increase in its borrowing costs 
which may have an adverse impact on ENR’s 
business and/or the value of ENR shares.

Currency risk
ENR’s assets may be invested in assets denomi-
nated in foreign currencies (i.e. other than Swiss 
Francs, ENR’s reporting currency). Consequently, 
the value of such investments, cash or income, 
when measured in Swiss Francs, may be nega-
tively impacted by fluctuations in cross currency 
rates and potentially also by certain exchange 
control regulations. This may have an adverse im-
pact on the ENR performance, NAV and/or the 
value of ENR shares. Furthermore, portfolio com-
panies could earn revenues in currencies other 
than Swiss Franc and this may impact negatively 
on their value (as expressed in Swiss Franc) and 
any proceeds ENR may generate from such in-
vestment. This may have an adverse impact on 
the ENR business and NAV and/or the value of 
ENR shares. In addition certain currency restric-
tions relating to Russia in other CIS member 
states relating to Rouble and other applicable 
currency repatriation may have an adverse im-
pact on portfolio companies and on the ENR 
business and NAV and/or the value of ENR shares. 
These risks could be mitigated depending on 
hedging strategies and costs which will be con-
sidered from time to time. However, depending on 
currency movements, hedging policies may not 
always have the desired results, which could have 
an adverse impact on the ENR financial perfor-
mance and its NAV and/or the value of ENR 
shares.

The Rouble is not convertible outside the CIS. 
The CBR, from time to time, has imposed certain 
currency control regulations. These regulations 
may impact on ENR’s ability to convert Roubles 
into other currencies and any delay or other dif-
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ficulty in converting Roubles into foreign cur-
rencies to make payments, or a delay or restric-
tion in the transfer of foreign currency, could 
adversely impact ENR’s ability to meet potential 
payment and debt obligations denominated in 
such other currencies, which could result in dis-
putes with service providers or potentially an 
acceleration of debt obligations and cross-de-
faults. Should this take place, it may have an ad-
verse impact on the ENR business, its NAV and/
or the value of ENR shares.

Reliance on the Investment Committee
ENR relies on advice given and investment deci-
sions taken by the Investment Manager, through 
its Investment Committee. There can be no assur-
ance that should there be a termination of the 
investment management agreement that a suit-
able replacement Investment Manager can be 
found. This may have an adverse impact on the 
ENR business and/or the value of ENR shares.

Furthermore, the Investment Manager relies on 
the investment committee. If one or more mem-
bers of the Investment Committee were to re-
sign, there can be no assurance that adequate 
replacement personnel could be found. This 
could have an adverse impact on the ENR busi-
ness and/or the value of ENR shares. There is 
also no certainty or guarantee that the Invest-
ment Manager will be able to  identify or devel-
op suitable future investment opportunities for 
ENR and any failure to do so may have an ad-
verse impact on the ENR business, its NAV and/
or the value of ENR shares.

4. Risk factors relating to private equity 
investments

Market environment for private equity 
investments
The market environment is a factor influencing 
the suitability and timing of private equity in-
vestments, and it is subject to change from time 
to time. For example, the global financial crisis 
of 2008 and 2009 caused the Russian economy 
as well as those of other CIS members and the 
Baltic States to contract markedly. It was a very 
difficult time for most businesses who had to, 
amongst other things, critically evaluate their 
business models, implement a range of restruc-
turing initiatives, find suitable arrangements 
with financiers regarding debt repayments, deal 
with faltering suppliers or customers and face 
lower consumer demand, face increasing fi-
nancing cost and banks who were not prepared 
to lend. Despite a range of Government inter-
vention and stimulus packages, many business-
es failed or had to give up control to major 
banking groups. In 2010, the situation appears 
to have stabilised and the aforementioned econ-
omies staged a gradual comeback and growth 
has returned. Whether this situation will be sus-
tained has to be seen. A portfolio company in 
which any private equity investment is made 
during a time where difficult or uncertain eco-
nomic conditions prevail, could face similar 
problems as those described above and this may 
adversely impact on the value of the portfolio 
company and the ENR investment and ultimate-
ly on the value of ENR’s NAV and/or shares. Pe-
riods of political or economic uncertainty could 
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also impact the value of portfolio companies 
and exit routes and exit values. There can be no 
assurances that portfolio companies can be sold 
at prices above their acquisition costs and any 
failure to do so may have an adverse impact on 
the ENR business and/or the value of ENR NAV 
and/or its shares.

Companies who have are not publicly traded or 
listed on a securities exchange are not subject 
to the same disclosure and other investor pro-
tection requirements that are applicable to 
companies with listed securities. The quality and 
availability of information may differ markedly 
from listed companies and this may make these 
companies difficult to assess or value or to sell 
or otherwise liquidate, and the risk of investing 
in such companies is generally much greater 
than the risk of investing in listed or publicly 
traded companies. Consequently, it is not pos-
sible to guarantee the accuracy of information 
in all cases, which may result in some discrep-
ancies at a later stage which could cause an ad-
verse impact on the portfolio company and/or 
the value of the ENR NAV and/or or its shares.

Long term illiquid investments
Although certain investments may generate in-
come, the return of capital and the realisation of 
gains (if any) from an investment should gener-
ally occur upon partial or full disposal of such 
investment. Whilst an investment may be sold at 
any time, for private equity investments it is 
generally not expected to occur for a number of 
years after the investment was made. It is un-
certain whether there will eventually be a public 

market for private equity portfolio company in-
vestments. Accordingly, there is no certainty or 
guarantee that ENR’s exit from these invest-
ments will be by way of an initial public offering 
of the portfolio company. Should there be such 
an offering, it will be subject to relevant securi-
ties laws and their requirements, which may 
change from time to time and differ across ju-
risdictions. ENR may be prohibited by contract 
or due to the operation of a shareholder agree-
ment or for any other relevant regulatory reason 
from disposing its interest in the portfolio in-
vestments for a certain period of time. Conse-
quently, there is no guarantee that ENR will be 
able to exit in favorable market conditions 
should these circumstances prevail, which could 
have an adverse impact on the ENR business  
and the value of the ENR NAV and/ or its shares.

Private equity investments are generally made 
with long term capital appreciation in mind. There 
is no assurance that ENR could exit from is in-
vestments within a three to seven year invest-
ment period, which could have an adverse impact 
on returns and the value of the ENR shares.

Investments in less established companies
ENR may invest in smaller, less established or 
start-up companies. Investments in such com-
panies may involve greater risks than generally 
associated with investments in more established 
companies. The valuations of these companies 
may change more abruptly than larger, more es-
tablished companies. Less established compa-
nies may also have fewer resources and controls, 
inefficient capital structures, early stage growth 
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challenges and therefore, are often more vul-
nerable to financial failure compared to more 
established businesses. Due to shorter operating 
histories, start-up businesses may also be more 
difficult to evaluate compared to established 
companies. Investments in less established or 
start-up companies who fail to address or prop-
erly deal with early life cycle challenges may fail 
and could adversely impact on the ENR portfolio 
investments or the value of the ENR NAV or its 
shares.

No assurance of investment return or 
distribution
There is no assurance that ENR will be able to 
generate positive returns for its shareholders or 
that these returns will be commensurate with 
risks of investing in Russia, other members of 
the CIS and the Baltic States. There is no assur-
ance that ENR will proceed with or make any 
distribution to its shareholders. 

Risk in introducing operational improvements
In certain cases, the success of an investment in 
a private company may depend, in part, on the 
ability to restructure and/or introduce operation-
al and/or structural improvements in the portfo-
lio company. This entails a high degree of uncer-
tainty and there is no assurance that this can be 
achieved, which could have an adverse impact on 
the ENR investment or the value of the ENR NAV 
or its shares.

Non-controlling investments
In the past ENR held certain minority positions 
with appropriate negative control and/or block-

ing rights for major decisions and matters im-
pacting on the portfolio company business. For 
these investments, it may not always be possi-
ble to secure blocking rights for every corporate 
action, which may result in potential conflicts or 
disputes with the portfolio company or its ex-
ecutives or other shareholders, which may have 
an adverse impact on the business of such com-
pany and may then impact negatively on the 
ENR NAV and/or the value of ENR shares. Fur-
ther, in Russia, it may not be always possible to 
optimally use minority shareholder protection 
rules, which may result in similar conflicts or 
disputes as described above and have an ad-
verse impact on the business of such company 
and could then impact negatively on ENR and/or 
the value of the ENR NAV and/or shares.

Investments in special situations or 
restructurings
ENR may invest in special situations or restruc-
turings that may involve anticipated unbundling 
processes. In certain circumstances, the out-
come may be different than anticipated and the 
portfolio company could be subject to bank-
ruptcy proceedings. This may have an adverse 
impact on the ENR business and/or the value of 
ENR shares or it’s NAV. 

Additional capital
Portfolio investments, especially those in a de-
velopment or a high growth phase, may require 
additional financing to satisfy their working capi-
tal commitments or growth objectives. Should a 
portfolio company not be able to raise sufficient 
capital or do so on unfavorable terms or the capi-
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tal raising result in a dilution of ENR’s interests in 
such company, it may have an adverse impact on 
the value of ENR shares and/or its NAV.

Reliance on portfolio company management
Portfolio company day-to-day operations will 
be attended to by the relevant company’s man-
agement team. Although there is interaction 
with management teams, there can be no assur-
ance that the existing management team, or any 
successor, will be able to operate the portfolio 
company successfully and in doing so may have 
an adverse impact on ENR and/or the value of 
ENR shares or it’s NAV. Furthermore, the portfo-
lio company may be highly dependent on a small 
group of key employees, who may be difficult to 
replace. There is no assurance that these staff 
could be retained, failing which the portfolio 
company may be negatively impacted, which 
could have an adverse impact on ENR’s invest-
ment and/or the value of ENR shares and it’s 
NAV.

Accounting, governance, disclosure and regula-
tory standards and availability of information
Accounting, governance and other disclosure 
and reporting standards, practices and require-
ments for companies operating in the CIS are 
not equivalent to those in more established 
markets and may differ in fundamental ways. 
Less transparency and information may be avail-
able for portfolio companies, and the informa-
tion could be less reliable than would be the 
case for comparable investments in developed 
economies. Reliance on incomplete or incorrect 
information may have an adverse impact on the 
value of ENR shares or its NAV.
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Loan financing 
ENR may invest in a portfolio company by pro-
viding loan financing on the short-to-medium 
term to assist the business to achieve agreed 
objectives or in anticipation of future conver-
sion into equity. There is no assurance that any 
such financing will be repaid or converted into 
equity and this may have an adverse impact on 
ENR and/or the value of ENR shares or its NAV.

The due diligence process may not reveal all 
relevant facts related to investments
A due diligence investigation is conducted be-
fore investments are made in a private equity 
portfolio company. This process involves an in-
depth assessment of the business, its finances, 
tax, accounting, environmental and legal situa-
tion. ENR may involve outside consultants, legal 
advisors, accountants and or other advisors in 
the process. There is no guarantee that the due 
diligence will uncover all matters which may in 
future impact adversely on the portfolio com-
pany or that a satisfactory due diligence will 
guarantee a successful investment and this may 
have an adverse impact on the value of ENR 
shares or its NAV.

5. Risks relating to ENR shares

Illiquidity
Investors should be aware that there is currently 
very limited liquidity of ENR’s shares in the sec-
ondary market. There is no indication that this 
situation will change over the short-to-medium 
term. Consequently, investors may not be able 
to trade out of large positions within a short 
time frame.

General Market Risks, Volatility of Market Price
There can be no assurance that the price of 
ENR’s shares will not trade at a discount to its 
NAV. Factors such as changes in the results of 
operations of ENR and changes in general con-
ditions in the financial market or the overall 
economy may cause the price of ENR shares to 
fluctuate substantially. The price of the shares, 
without regard to the results of operations or 
the financial condition of ENR, may be impacted 
by fluctuations in equity markets around the 
world, where markets have experienced signifi-
cant price and volume fluctuations in recent 
years. Such fluctuations may adversely impact 
the market price of shares. 

Substantial future sale of shares could impact 
the market price of the shares
As no shareholder is subject to a lock-up ar-
rangement, shareholders are not contractually 
limited to dispose of their shares freely. This 
may result in a sale or sales of a block of or such 
number of shares in the public or private market 
by a major shareholder which could adversely 
impact the prevailing market price for ENR 
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shares and may also impact on ENR’s ability to 
raise capital in the future.

Valuation
The trading price of the shares may not reflect 
the ENR NAV and share trades may be executed 
at a price different to the actual or published 
NAV. ENR have stated in the past that it had no 
plans to redeem shares or to distribute proceeds 
via dividends to its shareholders. Currently there 
is also no active share repurchase program in 
place. These factors may impact on the price at 
which ENR shares trade.

Diverse investor group
ENR shareholders could have different and con-
flicting expectations, perceptions, tax consider-
ations and other interests. Conflicting interests 
may, for example, arise from amongst other 
things, the nature of investments made by ENR, 
the timing and frequency of investments, the 
structuring of investments and timing of exits. 
This could result in conflict between ENR and 
shareholders and may result in litigation which 
could be costly. This could have an adverse im-
pact on ENR and/or the value of the ENR shares.

ENR does not anticipate paying dividends in the 
foreseeable future
ENR currently does not intend paying dividends, 
where available resources are to be use for in-
vestments and to grow the business. As a result, 
capital appreciation, if any, could be the primary 
source of any financial gain for a shareholder 
from an investment in ENR shares for the fore-
seeable future.

Curreny Risk
The ENR shares are quoted and traded in Swiss 
Franc and any future payment of dividends, if 
any, on these shares will be denominated in 
Swiss Franc. Consequently, shareholders who 
measure their investment performance in a cur-
rency other than the Swiss Franc, may be ad-
versely impacted by adverse currency 
movements.

Shareholders may not be able to participate in 
future equity offerings
Under Swiss corporate law, holders of shares are 
generally given the right to subscribe to and pay 
for a sufficient number of shares to maintain 
the same ownership ratio as prior to the issue of 
new shares or convertible bonds. Certain share-
holders in other jurisdictions may not be enti-
tled to exercise their rights unless the rights and 
shares are registered or qualified for sale under 
the relevant legislation or regulatory framework. 
As a result, there is the risk that shareholders  
may suffer dilution of their shareholding should 
they not be permitted to participate in any fu-
ture equity offerings.

61



Financial 
Statements

62



63



Independent Auditor’s report

64



65



Determination of the Net Asset Value and Attributable Net Asset Value 
for the years ending December 31
(Currency-CHF)

     
   31.12.2010 31.12.2009

   
Following IFRS 

presentation

Representing the 
existing sharehold-

ers’ economic 
interest 

Following IFRS 
presentation

Representing the 
existing 

 shareholders’  
economic interest 

Assets     
  Treasury stock - at market value – 1,558,050 – 1,269,000
  Cash, investments and other assets 133,953,498 133,953,498 129,645,244 129,645,244
 Total assets 133,953,498 135,511,548 129,645,244 130,914,244
       
Liabilities     
 Total liabilities 28,460,606 28,460,606 23,498,723 23,498,723
       
Shareholders’ Equity     
  Share capital 32,790,585 32,790,585 32,790,585 32,790,585
  Capital paid in excess of par value (share premium) 75,447,951 75,447,951 75,447,951 75,447,951
  Treasury stock - at cost – 1,552,228 – – 1,552,228 –
  Retained losses – 1,161,436 – 1,155,614 – 485,353 – 768,581
  Non controlling interests – 31,980 – 31,980 – 54,434 – 54,434
 Total shareholders’ equity 105,492,892 107,050,942 106,146,521 107,415,521
       
Total liabilities and shareholders’ equity 133,953,498 135,511,548 129,645,244 130,914,244
       
  Number of shares outstanding  2,644,402 2,644,402
  Net asset value per share  40.48 40.62
  Attributable net asset value per share  40.49 40.64
  Number of treasury shares  47,000 47,000

  

Financial Statements
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Note
The NAV is calculated in Swiss Francs as the aggregate of the value of all investments and treasury 
shares less the aggregate amount of the liabilities and accrued expenses divided by the total number of 
shares issued. 

The main differences between the two calculations are due to applying IFRS standards versus Swiss 
GAAP standards.

The differences are particularly prominent in the calculation and booking of treasury shares, and re-
classifying the shareholders’ equity.

Attributable NAV per share is the consolidated NAV, less the aggregate value of all minority interests, 
reflecting the economic value attributed to shareholders, divided by the number of shares issued.

Consolidated Results
The consolidated shareholders’ equity, based on IFRS representation, at the end of the reporting period 
amounted to CHF 105.49 million (2009: CHF 106.15 million).

The consolidated net loss for the 2010 year is CHF 653'629 (2009: Consolidated net profit of CHF 
9'723'938). The consolidated retained losses as of December 31, 2010 amounted to CHF 1'161'436 (2009: 
CHF 485'353).

For more details, see the consolidated statement of changes in equity for the year ended December 31, 
2010. 

Parent Company
As of December 31, 2010, the parent company recorded shareholders’ equity of CHF 51.16 million (2009: 
CHF 41.54 million).

The net profit for the 2010 year is CHF 9.63 million (2009: net loss of CHF 2.21 million). The retained 
profit as of December 31, 2010 amounted to CHF 1.34 million (2009: retained loss of CHF 8.29 million).

67



    
 Note 31.12.2010 31.12.2009

Assets    
  Current assets    
  Cash and cash equivalents 6 23,974,180 18,659,402
  Forward foreign exchange contracts and financial futures contracts 5 830,772 238,400
  Accounts receivable and accrued interest 7 965,344 1,748,177
  Total current assets  25,770,296 20,645,979
  Non-current assets    
  Investments at fair value through profit or loss 5 108,183,201 108,999,265
 Total assets  133,953,498 129,645,244
      
Liabilities    
  Accounts payable and accrued expenses 8.1 28,069,615 22,968,293
  Financial futures contracts 5 130,381 –
  Provision for taxes 8.2 260,610 530,430
 Total liabilities  28,460,606 23,498,723
      
Shareholders’ Equity    
  Share capital 9.1 32,790,585 32,790,585
  Capital paid in excess of par value (share premium)  75,447,951 75,447,951
  Treasury stock  – 1,552,228 – 1,552,228
  Retained losses  – 1,161,436 – 485,353
  Non controlling interests  – 31,980 – 54,434
 Total shareholders’ equity  105,492,892 106,146,521
      
 Total liabilities and shareholders’ equity  133,953,498 129,645,244
      
  Number of shares issued and fully paid 9.1 2,644,402 2,644,402
  Nominal value (in CHF)  12.40 12.40

The notes on pages 72 to 99 are an integral part of these consolidated financial statements.  

Consolidated balance sheet for the years ending December 31
(Currency-CHF)
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Consolidated statement of comprehensive income for the years January 1 
until December 31
(Currency-CHF)

    
 Note 2010 2009

Revenue    
  Interest income  3,624,778 886,771
  Dividend income  6,910 76,281
  Realised gains on sale of investments at fair value through profit or loss, net 5.1 163,141 201,399
  Changes in fair value on investments at fair value through profit or loss, net 5.1 – 7,382,309 8,105,636
  Realised gains on forward foreign exchange contracts and futures, net 5.1 3,131,648 1,206,265
  Unrealised gains on forward foreign exchange contracts and futures, net 5.1 705,998 838,216
  Exchange gain  2,036,196 777,323
 Total revenue  2,286,362 12,091,891
      
Expenses    
  Management fees 10.1 1,831,300 1,666,472
  Administrative fees  221,710 179,495
  Directors’ fees and expenses  89,413 41,702
  Travel expenses  85,328 –
  Legal and professional fees  616,801 219,001
  Bank charges and interest expenses  40,324 45,700
  Tax other than on income  – 230,013 60,726
  Other expenses  285,128 154,857
 Total expenses  2,939,991 2,367,953
      
 (Loss) / Profit for the year before tax  – 653,629 9,723,938
      
      
 (Loss) / Profit for the year after tax  – 653,629 9,723,938
      
      
 Total comprehensive (Loss)/Profit for the year  – 653,629 9,723,938
     
 Attributable to    
  Equity holders of the Company  – 676,083 9,730,817
  Non controlling interests  22,454 – 6,879
      
Earnings per share for profit attributable to equity holders of the Company during the period:    
  Weighted average number of outstanding shares 4 2,597,402 2,597,402
  Basic earnings per share (in CHF) 4 – 0.260 3.746
  Diluted earnings per share (in CHF) 4 – 0.260 3.746

The notes on pages 72 to 99 are an integral part of these consolidated financial statements.  
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Consolidated cash f low statement for the years January 1 until December 31 (Currency-CHF)
    

 Note 2010 2009

Cash Flows from Operating Activities    
 (Loss) /Profit before tax  – 653,629 9,723,938
      
 Adjustments for:    
  Interest income  – 3,624,778 – 886,771
  Dividend received  – 6,910 – 76,281
  Interest paid  40,324 45,700
  Foreign currency translation effects on cash and cash equivalents  373,389 – 10,524
  Fair value adjustment on investment portfolio 5 6,676,311 – 8,943,854
 Operating income before working capital changes  2,804,706 – 147,792
      
 Movement in working capital:    
  Investment portfolio movement, net 5, 5.1 – 6,322,239 – 53,963,159
  Change in accounts receivable  782,833 – 494,439
  Change in accounts payable and accrued expenses  4,880,958 – 2,627,239
  Dividend received  6,910 76,281
  Interest received  3,575,322 45,279
  Bank charges and interest expenses  – 40,324 – 45,700
 Net cash flow from/ (used in) operating activities  5,688,167 – 57,156,770
      
Cash Flows from Financing Activities    
  Increase of share capital  – –
  Sale of treasury stock  – –
  Purchase of treasury stock  – –
  Dividend paid to non controlling interests  – –
 Net cash flow from/ (used in) financing activities  – –
  Foreign currency translation effects on cash and cash equivalents  – 373,389 10,524
 Net change in cash and cash equivalents  5,314,778 – 57,146,246
      
  Cash and cash equivalents at beginning of the year 6 18,659,402 75,805,646
  Cash and cash equivalents at the end of the year 6 23,974,180 18,659,402

The notes on pages 72 to 99 are an integral part of these consolidated financial statements.  
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Consolidated statement of changes in equity for the years ending December 31, 2010
(Currency-CHF)

        

 Share capital Share premium Treasury stock Retained earnings Total
Non controlling 

interests
Total share- 

holders’ equity

Balance as at 31 December 2008 32,790,585 75,447,951 – 1,552,228 – 10,216,170 96,470,138 – 47,555 96,422,583
         
 Total comprehensive income – – – 9,730,817 9,730,817 – 6,879 9,723,938
Balance as at 31 December 2009 32,790,585 75,447,951 – 1,552,228 – 485,353 106,200,955 – 54,434 106,146,521

         
 Total comprehensive income    – 676,083 – 676,083 22,454 – 653,629
Balance as at 31 December 2010 32,790,585 75,447,951 – 1,552,228 – 1,161,436 105,524,872 – 31,980 105,492,892

The notes on pages 72 to 99 are an integral part of these consolidated financial statements.  
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Notes to the consolidated financial statements as of December 31, 2010
(Currency-CHF) 

1 Incorporation and activity
The Company is an investment company founded on May 18, 2007 for an unlimited duration. On  
May 25, 2007 it was registered with the Commercial Register of the Canton of Geneva under the refer-
ence number CH-660-1263007-3 and the company name “ENR Russia Invest SA”. The Company is 
 incorporated as a limited company under the laws of Switzerland. The Company’s registered office is 
2–4, Place du Molard, Geneva, Switzerland. The Company has no employees. The Company is trading 
under Swiss security number 3447695 with ISIN number of the shares CH0034476959 and ticker sym-
bol of the shares RUS.

The financial statements have been approved by the Board of Directors on April 27, 2011.

2 Basis for the presentation of the consolidated financial statements
The consolidated financial statements of the group, which include the accounts of the Company and its 
subsidiaries (collectively “the Group”) at December 31, 2010, are prepared in accordance with Interna-
tional Financial Reporting Standards (“IFRS”) as issued by the International Accounting Standards Board 
(“IASB”). The consolidated financial statements have been prepared under historical cost convention, as 
modified by the revaluation of financial assets and liabilities (including derivative financial instru-
ments) at fair value through profit or loss.

The preparation of financial statements in conformity with IFRS requires the use of certain critical ac-
counting estimates. It also requires management to exercise its judgment in the process of applying the 
Company’s accounting policies. The areas involving a higher degree of judgment or complexity, or areas 
where assumptions and estimates are significant to the consolidated financial statements are disclosed 
in note 3.5. Prior year amounts have been re-classed to be aligned with current year's presentation.

New and amended standards and interpretations 
The accounting policies adopted are consistent with those of the previous financial year, except for 
the following new and amended IFRS and International Financial Reporting Interpretations Committee 
("IFRIC") interpretations adopted in the year commencing January 1, 2010:

 – IFRS 1 First-time Adoption of IFRS effective July 1, 2009;
 – IFRS 2 Share-based Payment: Group Cash-settled Share-based Payment Transactions effective 
January 1, 2010;

 – IFRS 3 Business Combinations (Revised) and IAS 27 Consolidated and Separate Financial Statements 
(Amended) effective July 1, 2009 including consequential amendments to IFRS 7, IAS 21, IAS 28, IAS 
31 and IAS 39;
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 – IAS 39 Financial Instruments: Recognition and Measurement - Eligible Hedged Items effective July 
1, 2009;

 – IFRIC 17 Distributions of Non-cash Assets to Owners effective July 1, 2009; and
 – IFRIC 18 Transfers of Assets from Customers effective July 1, 2009.

The application of the above-mentioned IFRS standards and interpretations do not affect or change the 
Group's accounting policies. In May 2008 and April 2009, the IASB issued an omnibus of amendments 
to its standards, primarily with a view to removing inconsistencies and clarifying wording. There are 
separate transitional provisions for each standard. The adoption of the following amendments resulted 
in changes to accounting policies, but did not have any impact on the financial position or perfor-
mance of the Group.

Issued in April 2009
 – IFRS 8 Operating Segments: clarifies that segment assets and liabilities need only be reported when 
those assets and liabilities are included in measures that are used by the principle operating deci-
sion maker. The adoption of the amendment had no impact on the Company’s segment disclosure 
since the Company is organized into only one operating segment. 

 – Other amendments resulting from improvements to IFRS to the following standards did not have 
any impact on the accounting policies, financial position or performance of the Group.

Issued in May 2008
 – IFRS 5 Non-current Assets Held for Sale and Discontinued Operations.

Issued in April 2009
 – IFRS 2 Share-based Payment;
 – IFRS 5 Non-current Assets Held for Sale and Discontinued Operations;
 – IAS 1 Presentation of Financial Statements;
 – IAS 7 Statement of Cash Flows;
 – IAS 17 Leases;
 – IAS 34 Interim Financial Reporting;
 – IAS 36 Impairment of Assets;
 – IAS 38 Intangible Assets;
 – IAS 39 Financial Instruments: Recognition and Measurement;
 – IFRIC 9 Reassessment of Embedded Derivatives; and
 – IFRIC 16 Hedge of a Net Investment in a Foreign Operation.
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Standards, amendments and interpretations that are not yet effective and have not been early 
adopted
- IAS 24 Related Party Disclosures (Amendment);
- IAS 32 Financial Instruments: Presentation – Classification of Rights Issues;
- IFRS 9 Financial Instruments: Classification and Measurement;
- IFRIC 14 Prepayments of a minimum funding requirement (Amendment);
- IFRIC 19 Extinguishing Financial Liabilities with Equity Instruments.

Improvements to IFRS (issued in May 2010)
The IASB issued improvements to IFRS, an omnibus of amendments to its IFRS standards. The amend-
ments have not been adopted as they become effective for annual periods on or after either July 1, 
2010 or January 1, 2011.
- IFRS 3 Business Combinations;
- IFRS 7 Financial Instruments: Disclosures;
- IAS 1 Presentation of Financial Statements;
- IAS 27 Consolidated and Separate Financial Statements; and
- IFRIC 13 Customer Loyalty Programs.

The Group expects no impact from the adoption of the amendments on its financial position or perfor-
mance. The adoption of the amendment to IFRS 7 is expected to have a limited impact on the disclosure 
of credit risk.

3 Significant accounting policies
3.1 Consolidation
Full consolidation is applied to subsidiaries, all of which are wholly owned. The accounts of the Com-
pany’s subsidiaries are appropriately reclassified and adjusted for consolidation purposes to conform to 
the Group’s accounting policies. All intra-Group balances and operations are eliminated.

Subsidiaries are all entities (including special purpose entities) over which the Group has the power to 
govern the financial and operating policies generally accompanying a shareholding of more than one 
half of the voting rights. 

The existence and effect of potential voting rights that are currently exercisable or convertible are con-
sidered when assessing whether the Group controls another entity. Subsidiaries are fully consolidated 
from the date on which control is transferred to the Group. They are deconsolidated from the date that 
control ceases.
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3.2 Fully consolidated companies
The consolidated financial statements comprise ENR and the following subsidiaries:

Name of subsidiary Incorporated in Currency 2010 % Voting Currency 2009 % Voting

ENR Investment Limited Limassol, Cyprus EUR 6,576,660 100.00% EUR 6,576,660 100.00%
Panariello Enterprises Limited Nicosia, Cyprus EUR 7,435 77.00% EUR 7,435 77.00%
ENR Private Equity Limited Grand Cayman, Cayman Islands USD 500 100.00% USD 500 100.00%

In the consolidated Company accounts the participation in Panariello is consolidated. The Company has 
an effective economic interest of 70.12 % in Panariello. Therefore, under the shareholders’ equity sec-
tion of the consolidated balance sheet, a non controlling interest is shown, which comprises the third 
party shareholders’ 23 % equity interest in Panariello, as well as the 6.88 % economic interest held by 
Valartis International Ltd. For an explanation of the ownership structure and economic interests of the 
Company and Valartis International Ltd in Panariello, see note 10.4.

The financial statements of the Company and the subsidiaries are drawn up to December 31, 2010.

3.3 Recognition of revenues and expenses
Revenues and expenses are recognised as they are earned or incurred and reported in the financial 
statements of the periods to which they relate.

3.3.1 Interest
Interest is recognised on a time proportion basis that reflects the effective yield on the asset or 
liability.

3.3.2 Gain or loss on investments
The gains or losses arising from the disposal of investments are recognised in the statement of compre-
hensive income as they arise.

3.3.3 Dividends
Dividends are recognised when the Company’s right to receive payment is established.

3.3.4 Other revenue
Other revenue is measured at the fair value of the consideration received or receivable.
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3.4 Foreign currency translation

3.4.1 Transactions and balances
Transactions in foreign currencies are recorded at the rate ruling at the date of the transaction. Assets 
and liabilities denominated in foreign currencies are translated into Swiss Francs at exchange rates 
 ruling on the balance sheet date.

Foreign exchange profits and losses are included in the statement of comprehensive income of the year 
in which the profits and losses arise.

3.4.2 Functional and presentation currency
The financial statements of the wholly-owned subsidiaries and the parent company are maintained in 
Swiss Francs, which represents their functional and presentation currency.

3.5 Investment portfolio
The Group has classified its investments as carried at fair value through profit or loss. Gains and losses 
arising from changes in the fair value of the financial assets at fair value through profit or loss catego-
ry are presented in the statement of comprehensive income in the period in which they arise.

Financial assets are recognised when the risks and rewards of ownership are substantially transferred 
to the Group. They are derecognised when this is no longer the case. Assets are accounted for at settle-
ment date.

The investments of the Company are valued as follows:
• Financial assets and financial liabilities designated at fair value through profit or loss at inception are 

those that are managed and their performance evaluated on a fair value basis in accordance with the 
Company’s documented investment strategy. The Company’s policy is for the Investment Manager 
and the Board to evaluate the information about these financial assets on a fair value basis together 
with other related financial information;

• Securities, fixed income instruments or derivatives listed on a stock exchange or traded on any other 
regulated market are valued at the last available market price quoted in reasonable size by a reputable 
broker on such exchange or market. If a security, fixed income instrument or derivative is listed on 
several stock exchanges or markets, the last available price on the stock exchange, or market, that 
constitutes the main market for such instrument will be determined; 

• Unquoted securities are valued based on the realisation value which will be estimated by the Board 
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and the Investment Manager with prudence and good faith. Guidelines and principles for valuation of 
portfolio companies as set out by the European Venture Capital Association will be taken into ac-
count, with particular consideration of the following:

 – Investments will be reported at fair value at the reporting date, where fair value is the amount for 
which an asset could be exchanged between knowledgeable willing parties in an arm’s length trans-
action; and

 – In estimating fair value for an investment, a methodology will be applied that is appropriate in light 
of the nature, facts and circumstances of the investment and its materiality in the context of the 
total investment portfolio and reasonable assumptions and estimations will be used.

• An appropriate methodology will incorporate available information about all factors that are likely 
materially to affect the fair value of the investment. The valuation methodologies will be applied 
consistently from period to period, except where a change would result in a better estimate of fair 
value. Any changes in valuation methodologies will be clearly stated. Listed below are the most wide-
ly used methodologies. In assessing which methodology is appropriate, the Board, with the involve-
ment of the Investment Manager will be predisposed towards those methodologies that draw on 
market-based measures of risk and return. The valuation methodologies comprise:

 – Cost of recent investment;
 – Earnings multiple;
 – Net asset value;
 – Discounted cash flow;
 – Industry valuation benchmarks;
 – Available market prices; and
 – Any recent transaction involving a portfolio company and a bona fide third party.

Methodologies utilising discounted cash flows and industry benchmarks will rarely be used in isolation 
of the market-based methodologies and then only with extreme caution. These methodologies, how-
ever, may be useful as a cross-check of values estimated using the market-based methodologies.

For private equity investments, the Company, where appropriate, may obtain independent valuations 
from valuation experts. These are evaluated by the Board (with the involvement of the Investment Man-
ager) and the Board then determines the fair value to be reflected in the financial statements. Because 
of the nature of the estimates underlying these valuations, such as the future cash flows, the discount 
rate applied etc, the actual values achieved upon sale of such investments may significantly differ from 
the fair values in the financial statements.
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According to IFRS 7, the Group classifies fair value measurements using a fair value hierarchy that re-
flects the significance of the inputs used in making the measurements. The fair value hierarchy has the 
following levels:
• Quoted prices (unadjusted) in active markets for identical assets or liabilities (level 1);
• Inputs other than quoted prices included within level 1 that are observable for the assets or liability, 

either directly (that is, as prices) or indirectly (that is, derived from prices) (level 2); and
• Inputs for the asset or liability that are not based on observable market data (that is, unobservable 

inputs) (level 3).

The level in the fair value hierarchy within which the fair value measurement is categorised in its en-
tirety is determined on the basis of the lowest level input that is significant to the fair value measure-
ment in its entirety. For this purpose, the significance of an input is assessed against the fair value 
measurement in its entirety. If a fair value measurement uses observable inputs that require signifcant 
adjustment based on unobservable inputs, that measurement is a level 3 measurement. Assessing the 
significance of a particular input to the fair value measurement in its entirety requires judgement, con-
sidering factors to the asset or liability.

The determination of what constitutes “observable” requires significant judgement by the Group. The 
Group considers observable data to be that market data that is readily available, regularly distributed or 
updated, reliable and verifiable, not proprietary, and provided by independent sources that are actively 
involved in the relevant market.

The following table analyses within the fair value hierarchy the Group’s financial assets measured at 
fair value at December 31, 2010:

Assets Level 1 Level 2 Level 3 Total balance

Financial assets at fair value through profit or loss at inception:     
 – Equities and fixed income instruments 72,195,075 – 72,195,075
 – Fixed income instruments (bonds) – 3,051,789 – 3,051,789
 – Derivatives – 830,772 – 830,772
 – Naftrans Ltd – 32,936,337 32,936,337
Totals 72,195,075 3,882,561 32,936,337 109,013,973

as of 31 December 2009:
Assets Level 1 Level 2 Level 3 Total balance

Financial assets at fair value through profit or loss at inception:     
 – Equities and fixed income instruments 22,590,467 – 22,590,467
 – Fixed income instruments (bonds) – 50,079,359 – 50,079,359
 – Derivatives – 238,400 – 238,400
 – Naftrans Ltd – 36,329,439 36,329,439
Totals 22,590,467 50,317,759 36,329,439 109,237,665
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Investments whose values are based on quoted market prices in active markets, and therefore classified 
within level 1, include active listed equities, exchange traded derivatives and fixed income instruments. 
The Group does not adjust the quoted price for these instruments.

Financial instruments that trade in markets that are not considered to be active but are valued based 
on quoted market prices, dealer quotations or alternative pricing sources supported by observable in-
puts are classified within level 2. These comprise of certain investment-grade corporate and sovereign 
bonds and over-the-counter derivatives. As level 2 investments include positions that are not traded in 
active markets and/or are subject to transfer restrictions, valuations may be adjusted to reflect illiquid-
ity and/or non-transferability, which are generally based on available market information.

Investments classified within level 3 have significant unobservable inputs, as they trade infrequently. 
Level 3 instruments comprise of private equity investments. As observable prices are not available for 
these investments, the Group has used valuation techniques to derive the fair value. Refer to note 5.2 
as to the determination of the value of the Naftrans Limited investment. 

In the 2010 financial year positions with a total fair value of CHF 51'389'367 (in 2009 there were no 
transfers between levels) were reclassified from level 2 to level 1. The following table presents the 
movement in level 3 investments for the year ended December 31, 2010.
     CHF

Opening balance   36,329,439
 – Gains and losses recognised in the profit and loss   – 3,393,102
Closing balance   32,936,337
Total gains or losses for the year included in the statement of comprehensive income  
for assets held at the end of the year   – 3,393,102

The only investment the Company has on level 3 is Naftrans Limited. The value shown in the above ta-
ble represents the gross value of this investment. For further information, refer to note 5.2, which il-
lustrates the net value of this investment.

3.6 Taxation (see also note 8.2)
The Company provides for taxes when profits are earned. Deferred income tax is provided in full, using 
the liability method, on temporary differences arising between the tax bases of assets and liabilities 
and their carrying amounts in the consolidated financial statements. Deferred income tax is deter-
mined using tax rates (and laws) that have been enacted or substantially enacted at the balance sheet 
date and are expected to apply when the related deferred income tax asset is realised or the deferred 
income tax liability is settled.
Deferred income tax assets arising from carried forward losses are recognised to the extent that it is 
probable that future taxable profit will be available against which the temporary differences can be 
utilised.
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Deferred income tax is provided on temporary differences arising on investments in subsidiaries and as-
sociates, except where the timing of the reversal of the temporary difference is controlled by the Group 
and it is probable that the temporary difference will not be reversed in the foreseeable future.

Since January 1, 2010, ENR Russia Invest SA, the parent company, is VAT registered in Switzerland.

3.7 Critical accounting estimates and judgments
Estimates and judgments are continually evaluated and are based on historical experience and other fac-
tors, including expectations of future events that are believed to be reasonable under the circumstances.

The Group makes estimates and assumptions that impact on the reported amounts of assets and liabilities 
within the next financial year. The resulting accounting estimates will, by definition, seldom equal the related 
actual results. The estimates and assumptions that have a significant risk of causing a material adjustment 
to the carrying amounts of assets and liabilities within the next financial year are discussed below.

Fair value of financial instruments and derivatives
The fair value of financial instruments that are not traded in an active market (e.g. over-the-counter de-
rivatives or private equity investments) is determined by using various valuation techniques. The Group 
uses its judgment to select a variety of methods and makes assumptions that are mainly based on market 
conditions existing at each balance sheet date (see also note 5.2).

3.8 Risk management policies
The Company’s risks at the end of the period under review are concentrated in its listed and unlisted port-
folio positions. These are managed on a daily basis under the oversight of the Investment Committee.

Where possible, the Company secures representation via its Investment Manager on the board of directors 
of private equity portfolio companies. The boards of these companies meet on a regular basis. In addition, 
the Company, via its Investment Manager, is in regular contact and meets up on a regular basis with the 
senior management of its private equity portfolio companies. This will ensure that the Company is aware 
of potential operational risks which may arise for such investment companies and will be in a position to 
endeavor to introduce appropriate measures to mitigate any such risk.

3.8.1 Currency risk
Investments are usually not denominated in Swiss Francs, the functional and presentation currency of 
the Company. From time to time, the Company will consider financial derivative transactions to protect 
the net assets against unfavorable currency fluctuations. In the past financial year it was the policy to, 
at varying degrees, hedge currency risks related to the USD.
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3.8.2 Summary of exposure to currency risk of monetary items
As of December 31, 2010 (Currency-CHF)
 CHF USD EUR GBP RUB Total

Assets       
  Cash and cash equivalents 17,653,083 6,245,994 3,007 15,242 56,855 23,974,181
  Forward foreign exchange contracts and futures – 830,772 – – – 830,772
  Accounts receivable and accrued interest 544,467 420,877 – – – 965,344
  Investments at fair value through profit or loss 13,512,941 78,829,435 – – 15,840,825 108,183,201
 Total assets 31,710,491 86,327,078 3,007 15,242 15,897,680 133,953,498
         
Liabilities       
  Accounts payable and accrued expenses 2,042,665 26,026,950 – – 28,069,615
  Financial futures contracts – 130,381 – – – 130,381
  Provision for taxes 260,610 – – – – 260,610
 Total liabilities 2,303,275 26,157,331 – – – 28,460,606
         
Total net assets / shareholders’ equity 29,407,216 60,169,747 3,007 15,242 15,897,680 105,492,892
         
  Exchange rate against CHF 1.00000 0.9338 1.24860 1.4564 0.0306 
         
At December 31, 2010 had the exchange rate between foreign currencies and CHF increased or decreased by 5% with all other variables held con-
stant, the increase or decrease respectively in net assets would amount to approximately :
    USD EUR GBP RUB TOTAL

  Currency (CHF)  3,008,487 150 762 794,884 3,804,284

As of December 31, 2009 (Currency-CHF)
 CHF USD EUR GBP RUB Total

Assets       
  Cash and cash equivalents 18,116,899 256,607 224,996 60,821 79 18,659,402
  Forward foreign exchange contracts and futures 45,373,120 – 45,134,720 – – – 238,400
  Accounts receivable and accrued interest 502,707 1,245,470 – – – 1,748,177
  Investments at fair value through profit or loss 10,350,000 96,614,399 – – 2,034,866 108,999,265
 Total assets 74,342,726 52,981,756 224,996 60,821 2,034,945 129,645,244
         
Liabilities       
  Accounts payable and accrued expenses 608,248 21,986,464 358,581 – – 22,953,293
  Provision for taxes 530,430 – – – – 530,430
 Total liabilities 1,138,678 21,986,464 358,581 – – 23,483,723
         
Total net assets / shareholders’ equity 73,204,048 30,995,292 – 133,585 60,821 2,034,945 106,161,521
  Exchange rate against CHF 1.00000 1.03 1.48330 1.6696 0.034 
         
At December 31, 2009 had the exchange rate between foreign currencies and CHF increased or decreased by 5% with all other variables held con-
stant, the increase or decrease respectively in net assets would amount to approximately:
    USD EUR GBP RUB TOTAL

  Currency (CHF)  1,549,765 – 6,679 3,041 101,747 1,647,874
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3.8.3 Liquidity risk
The Company will, inter alia, invest in unlisted and certain listed direct and/or indirect investments that 
may be illiquid. Liabilities of the Company usually represent a minor part of the assets of the Company 
and are payable within three months (however, see position regarding Naftrans Limited loans below 
and also in note 5.2). The Company maintains an adequate level of liquidity to meet its liabilities. The 
liquidity risk of the Company is therefore marginal.

Shareholder loans from Naftrans Limited of USD 28.1 million are included in the liabilities. These loans 
relate to distribution arrangements between Naftrans Limited and ENR Private Equity Limited of cash 
proceeds received from Naftrans Limited from its disposal of the Georgian operating assets and from 
payments received under the settlement agreement, as described in note 5.2. For details regarding the 
repayment terms of these loans, also refer to note 5.2.

3.8.4 Market risk
The Company’s exposure to market risk for changes in market prices relates primarily to any listed 
shares or fixed income instruments that may be held within the fair value through profit or loss cate-
gory. The Company generally does not use derivative financial instruments to hedge its market risks.

Fixed income instruments forming part of the investment portfolio are listed in note 5.1. A description 
of the Russian corporate issuers of fixed income instruments held in the portfolio and the Lithuanian 
government (Lithuanian sovereign bonds form part of the fixed income instruments portfolio) is pro-
vided under the “Portfolio Investments” section of the annual report. Considering the overall size of the 
fixed income instruments in the portfolio (as valued at year-end) and the industry sectors where re-
spective issuers operate, the majority of the fixed income instruments relate to companies operating in 
the “Oil and Gas” sector and the “Financial Services Sector”. Market risk for fixed income instruments, 
can be described as the risk that the bond market as a whole would decline, bringing the value of indi-
vidual securities down with it regardless of their fundamental characteristics. In determining the value 
at risk for credit spreads, according to a Bloomberg simulation should these spreads move up by 100% 
over an one week period, it will result in a reduction of the value of the fixed income instrument port-
folio (at year end) of 6.33% (2009: 8.53%). In CHF this would translate to CHF 3'245'026 based on the 
year-end valuation. Taking the Russia-Euro Bond 7.50% 03/30 as reference, the fixed income invest-
ments (excluding the investment in the Valartis Russia & CIS Fixed Income Fund) was approximately 
44.46% (2009: 75%) correlated to this reference bond at year-end. 

Taking account of the overall size of the listed equities in the portfolio (as valued at year-end), the in-
vestment in Eastern Property Holdings Limited (“EPH”) comprises approximately 54.21% (2009: 71%) of 
this component of the investment portfolio. EPH is exposed to the Russian real estate sector. To evalu-
ate the market risk, the beta of a stock describes the relationship of its returns with that of the market 
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as a whole. By definition, the market has an underlying beta of 1.0 and individual stocks are ranked ac-
cording to how much they deviate from the market. A stock that moves more than the market (i.e. more 
volatile) over time has a beta whose absolute value is greater than 1. If a stock moves less than the 
market, the absolute value of the stock’s beta is less than 1.0. Compared against the RTSI$ stock market 
in Russia, EPH has a beta of 0.372 (2009: 0.359). To measure how market risk could impact EPH, a 
Bloomberg scenario analysis was used based on a scenario where there is a sudden RUB devaluation, 
such as what occurred in 1998 during the week 25 August to 1 September (temporary government de-
fault on debt repayments). Russian stocks fell by more than 35% and the RUB tumbled by 50%. During 
this period investors also lost confidence in stock markets worldwide. As per the Bloomberg scenario 
analysis, if such an event would occur again, the value of the EPH shares, over a one week period, may 
reduce by 9.89% (2009: 4.92%). In CHF this would translate to CHF 1'115'484 (2009: CHF 9'082'360) 
based on the year-end valuation.  

For investments the Group bears the risk that they may be realised only after several years and that 
their fair value may change significantly. For details of these investments refer to notes 5.2, 5.4 and 
5.5. The Board and the Investment Manager, from time to time, performs a sensitivity analysis of its 
unlisted private equity portfolio to get a feel for the impact of a possible market correction. For ex-
ample, should the value of the Company's private equity investments (measured with reference to the 
net CHF carrying value attributed to the Naftrans investment in these financial statements) change by 
+/– 25% the impact on statement of income would be CHF 1'694'752. The shift of 25% has been deter-
mined by the Board, with the involvement of the Investment Manager, having regard to, inter alia, vola-
tility seen in the private equity industry in the recent past.

Investments in the CIS region could be highly volatile and investment valuations may be influenced by a 
wide variety of factors. From a macroeconomic perspective, world commodity price movements, particu-
larly crude oil and gas, will impact on economic and corporate performance in many CIS countries. Other 
factors include, but are not limited to, changing supply and demand relationships, government, trade, fis-
cal, monetary and exchange control programs and policies, national and international political and eco-
nomic events, changes in interest rates, liquidity in markets and new tax regimes. In addition, from time 
to time governments intervene in certain markets or introduce policies to strengthen their participation in 
a market. The Company and its Investment Manager will regularly monitor developments in the macro-
economic environment in those jurisdictions where it has portfolio investments to identify market risks in 
time to consider appropriate steps to take in respect of such portfolio investments.

Legal frameworks are still developing in Russia and other CIS countries and have not achieved the same 
levels of structure, independence and certainty as in more developed economies. To mitigate risks as-
sociated with this uncertainty, the Company, where possible, structures private equity investments to 
be governed by English law and English law shareholders’ agreements.
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3.8.5 Credit risk
The Group is exposed to credit risk, which is the risk that one party to a financial instrument will cause 
a financial loss for the other party by failing to discharge an obligation.

The main concentration to which the Group is exposed to arises from the Group investments in fixed 
income instruments. The Group is also exposed to counter-party credit risk on trading derivative prod-
ucts, cash and cash equivalents and other receivables balances.

The Group’s policy to manage this risk is to mainly invest in fixed income instruments that have a BBB 
(as per S&P Ratings Services) investment grade. These instruments are listed in note 5.1, and save for 
one, have investment ratings of “BBB” from S&P Ratings Services. The exception is a RUB denominated 
Magnit fixed income instrument which is unrated.

Cash and cash equivalents are held by selected counter parties.

The maximum exposure to credit risk before any credit enhancements at December 31, 2010 is the car-
rying amount of the financial assets as set out below.

   2010 2009

 Fixed income instruments 51,224,215 46,870,912
 Derivative assets 830,772 238,400
 Cash and cash equivalents 23,974,180 18,659,402
 Other assets 965,344 1,748,177
Total 76,994,511 67,516,891

None of these assets are impaired nor past due but not impaired. 
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3.8.6 Interest rate risk 
The Group exposure to interest rates are limited to its cash and cash equivalent balance as well as to its 
portfolio of fixed income instruments. Derivative financial instruments are used to hedge the interest 
rate risk inherant to USD denomintated fixed income instruments.

As of December 31, 2010 (Currency-CHF)

in CHF       

 Up to 1 year 1 – 5 years Over 5 years
Non-interest 

bearing Total

Assets      
  Cash and bank balances 23,974,180 – – – 23,974,180
  Forward foreign exchange contracts – – – 830,772 830,772
  Investments at fair value through profit or loss  19,343,057 31,881,157 56,958,987 108,183,201
  Other assets 74,395 – – 890,949 965,344
 Total assets 24,048,575 19,343,057 31,881,157 58,680,708 133,953,497
        
Liabilities      
  Other liabilities – – – 28,069,615 28,069,615
  Financial futures contracts – – – 130,381 130,381
  Provision for taxes – – – 260,610 260,610
 Total liabilities – – – 28,460,606 28,460,606
        
Interest sensitivity 24,048,575 19,343,057 31,881,157 30,220,102 105,492,891
        
The table below summarises average effective interest rates for monetary financial instruments:   
      31.12.2010 (% P.A.)
   CHF USD EUR GBP RUB

Assets      
 Cash and bank balances 0.02 0.14 0.18 0.30 0.00
        
Liabilities      
 Bank overdraft – – – – –
        
If the interest rate on cash and cash equivalents moves by 50 bps, the statement of income impact would be CHF 88’699 on an annual basis
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As of December 31, 2009 (Currency-CHF)
in CHF       

 Up to 1 year 1 – 5 years Over 5 years
Non-interest 

bearing Total

Assets      
  Cash and bank balances 18,659,402 – – – 18,659,402
  Forward foreign exchange contracts – – – 238,400 238,400
  Investments at fair value through profit or loss – 16,683,204 30,187,705 62,128,356 108,999,265
  Other assets 695,645 – – 1,052,532 1,748,177
 Total assets 19,355,047 16,683,204 30,187,705 63,419,288 129,645,244
        
Liabilities      
  Other liabilities – – – 22,968,293 22,968,293
  Provision for taxes – – – 530,430 530,430
 Total liabilities – – – 23,498,723 23,498,723
        
Interest sensitivity 19,355,047 16,683,204 30,187,705 39,920,565 106,146,521
        
The table below summarises average effective interest rates for monetary financial instruments:   
      31.12.2009 (% P.A.)
   CHF USD EUR GBP RUB

Assets      
 Cash and bank balances 0.0200 0.5600 0.8500 0.9500 8.3200
        
Liabilities      
 Bank overdraft – – – – –
        
If the interest rate on cash and cash equivalents move by 50 bps, the statement of income impact would be CHF 93’297 on an annual basis.

3.8.7 Capital risk management 
The Group’s objectives when managing capital are to safeguard the Group’s ability to continue as a 
 going concern in order to provide returns for shareholders and benefits for other stakeholders and to 
maintain an optimal capital structure to reduce the cost of capital. In order to maintain or adjust the 
capital structure, the Group may adjust the amount of dividends paid to shareholders, return capital to 
shareholders, issue new shares or sell assets to reduce debt. Consistent with others in the industry, the 
Group monitors capital on the basis of the gearing ratio. This ratio is calculated as net debt divided by 
total capital. Net debt is calculated as total borrowings less cash and cash equivalents. Total capital is 
calculated as shareholders’ equity as shown in the consolidated balance sheet plus net debt.

4 Earnings per share attributable to equity holders of the company
Earnings per share is calculated by dividing the net income for the period by the weighted average 
number of shares outstanding during the period.
 2010 2009

Earnings per share basic and diluted     
 Net (loss) / profit attributable to equity holders CHF – 676,083 CHF 9,730,817
 Weighted average number of ordinary shares outstanding  2,597,402 2,597,402
Basic and diluted earnings per share CHF – 0.260 CHF 3.746
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The weighted average number of outstanding shares set out in note 4 on the previous page comprise of 
the issued shares less the treasury shares.

5 Investment Portfolio

in CHF     

 2010 2009

Fair value of portfolio at beginning of the period  109,237,665 46,330,653
      
Investment Portfolio Movement for the Period    
  Purchase of investments  7,853,331 56,967,046
  Sale of investments  – 1,694,234 – 3,205,287
  Net realised gain on disposal of investments  163,141 201,399
 Net investment portfolio movement for the period  6,322,238 53,963,158
      
  Changes in fair value,  (decrease) / increase  – 6,676,311 8,943,853
      
 Fair value of portfolio at the end of the period  108,883,592 109,237,665
      
The investment portfolio is represented as follows on the balance sheet:    
      
 Designated as Fair Value Through Profit or Loss:    
  Listed equity securities and bonds held for trading 1)  75,246,865 72,669,826
  Unlisted equity securities  32,936,337 36,329,439
 Total designated as fair value through profit or loss  108,183,201 108,999,266
      
 Total financial assets at fair value through profit or loss  108,183,201 108,999,266
      
 Derivatives held for trading :    
  Exchange rate forward agreements  830,772 124,774
  Futures  – 130,381 113,626
 Total derivatives  700,391 238,400
      
Gains /(losses) on investments at fair value through profit or loss    
 Net realised gains  163,141 201,399
 Changes in fair value, (decrease) / increase  – 7,138,302 8,105,635
 Total  – 6,975,161 8,307,034
      
 Gain / (losses) recognised on derivatives    
 Net realised gains  3,131,648 1,206,265
 Changes in fair value, increase  461,990 838,216
 Total  3,593,638 2,044,481

Note (1) - These financial instruments have been designated as 'Held for Trading' in prior years and restated to designated at fair value through profit 

or loss. However, the restated classification has no valuation or profit or loss impact.
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5.1 Details of investments at fair value through profit or loss

Securities, Bonds and Fixed Income  Balance as of 01.01.2010 Movement in period (CHF) Realised (CHF) Changes in fair value (CHF) Balance as of 31.12.2010

  Quantity CHF Purchases and Additions Sales and Withdrawals Gains Losses Gains Losses Quantity CHF

MOSCOW UNITED ELECTRICITY DISTRIBUTION  12,313,327 498,431 – – – – 76,478 – 12,313,327 574,909
RAO EASTERN ENERGY SYSTEM JSC  18,400,000 231,426 – – – – – 4,247 18,400,000 227,179
RAO EASTERN ENERGY SYSTEM JSC PREFERENCE SHARES  6,400,000 24,727 – – – – 50,728 – 6,400,000 75,455
FEDERAL GRID COMPANY OF UES OJSC  10,173,273 111,072 – – – – 4,826 – 10,173,273 115,898
INTERNATIONAL DISTRIBUTION GRID COMPANY OF VOLGA HOLDING  20,900,000 2,355,043 – – – – 1,087,074 – 20,900,000 3,442,116
INTERNATIONAL DISTRIBUTION GRID COMPANY OF VOLGA HOLDING PREF. SHARES  6,400,000 381,321 – – – – 290,967 – 6,400,000 672,288
INTER RAO UES JSC  215,675,995 354,768 – – – – – 35,427 215,675,995 319,341
KUZBASSENERGO JSC  16,961,051 152,161 – – – – 56,261 – 16,961,051 208,422
MOSCOW POWER JSC (MOSENERGO)  50 5 – – – – 1 – 50 5
FEDERAL HYDROGENERATION COMPANY JSC  32,708,755 1,267,542  – – – 379,085 – 32,708,775 1,646,627
TERRITORIAL GENERATION COMPANY NO 1 OJSC  927,579,908 505,164 – – – – 101,253 – 927,579,908 606,417
TERRITORIAL GENERATION COMPANY NO 2 OJSC  314,979,184 69,042 – – – – 16,931 – 314,979,184 85,973
QUADRA POWER GENERATION JGC  23,263,819 9,585 – – – – 1,277 – 23,263,819 10,862
TERRITORIAL GENERATION COMPANY NO 6 OJSC  71,823,486 23,971 – – – – 13,471 – 71,823,486 37,442
VOLZHSKAYA TERRITORIAL GENERATION COMPANY OJSC (TGC 7)(Sold 15.03.10)  146,011 6,016 – – 7,345 1,329 – – – – –
TERRITORIAL GENERATION COMPANY NO 9 OJSC  133,615,552 11,010 – – – – 13,944 – 133,615,552 24,954
TERRITORIAL GENERATION COMPANY NO 11 HOLDING OJSC  6,100,000 7,980 –  – 42,427 – 18,400,000 50,407
TERRITORIAL GENERATION COMPANY NO 11 HOLDING OJSC PREF. SHARES  6,400,000 2,719 – – – – 14,074 – 6,400,000 16,793
ENISEYSKA TERRITORY GENERATION COMPANY (TGC 13)  49 – – – – – – – – –
FIRST GENERATION COMPANY OF WHOLESALE ELECTRICITY MARKET OJSC (WGC-1)  – – 543,712 – – – – – 13,071,717 543,712
FIRST GENERATION COMPANY OF WHOLESALE ELECTRICITY MARKET OJSC (WGC-1) (new)  23,339,695 583,100  – – – 284,905 – 23,339,695 868,004
EASTERN PROPERTY HOLDINGS LTD.  493,000 15,995,385 – – – – – 4,716,482 493,000 11,278,904
VTB CAPITAL SA 15 %, 04/19 BOND  10,000,000 348,160 – – 357,000 8,840 – – – – –
MAGNIT FINANCE LLC 8.2 %, 03/12, BOND  10,000,000 320,536 – – – – – – 14,382 10,000,000 306,154
LUKOIL OAO JSC 13.5 %, 06/10, BOND  10,000,000 348,798 – – 374,000 25,203 – – – – –
RUSSIAN RAILWAYS 9.4 %, 12/12, BOND  29,700,000 1,017,374 – – – – – 65,566 29,700,000 951,807
VALARTIS RUSSIA & CIS FIXED INCOME FUND  250,000 3,208,450 – – – – 8,491 – 250,000 3,216,941
GAZ CAPITAL 9.25 %, 04/19, BOND  3,000,000 3,478,568 1,931,026 – – – – – 241,010 4,500,000 5,168,583
TNK - BP FINANCE SA 6.625 %, 03/17, BOND  4,500,000 4,549,484 – – – – – – 11,216 4,500,000 4,538,268
VTB CAPITAL SA 7.5 %, 08/11, BOND  10,000,000 10,350,000 – – – – – – 54,000 10,000,000 10,296,000
VTB CAPITAL SA 6.465 %, 03/15, BOND     1,065,300 – – – – – 96,436 1,000,000 968,864
LITHUANIAN REPUBLIC 6.75 %, 01/15, BOND  1,800,000 1,903,873 – – – – – – 80,077 1,800,000 1,823,795
LITHUANIAN REPUBLIC 7.375 %, 02/20, BOND     254,318 – – – 4,811 – 250,000 259,130
LUKOIL INTL FINANCE B.V. 7.25 %, 11/19, BOND  5,000,000 5,201,500 – – – – – – 100,618 5,000,000 5,100,883
LUKOIL INTL FINANCE B.V. 6.375 %, 11/14, BOND  5,000,000 5,315,830 – – – – – – 319,393 5,000,000 4,996,437
TNK - BP FINANCE 7.25 %, 02/20, BOND  – – 254,292 – – – – – 278 250,000 254,015
TMK 5.25% BONDS  – – 828,120 – 955,889 127,769 – – – –
SBERBANK (SB CAP SA) 5.4%, 03/17,  BONDS  – – 2,976,562 – – – – – 182,026 3,000,000 2,794,537
TNK - BP FINANCE 7.5 %, 07/16, BOND  4,500,000 4,767,329 – – – – – – 92,493 4,500,000 4,674,836
LUKOIL INTL FINANCE B.V. 6.356 %, 06/17, BOND  1,500,000 1,528,469 – – – – – – 60,871 1,500,000 1,467,597
LUKOIL INTL FINANCE B.V. 6.656 %, 06/22, BOND  3,000,000 2,961,611 – – – – – – 118,190 3,000,000 2,843,421
TNK - BP FINANCE 7.875 %, 03/18, BOND  4,500,000 4,779,380 – – – – 509 – 4,500,000 4,779,889
             
Sub-total listed investments at fair value through profit or loss   72,669,826 7,853,331 – 1,694,234 163,141 – 2,447,512 – 6,192,711 75,246,865
NAFTRANS LTD, LIMASSOL, CYPRUS  9,213,540 10,723,639 – – – – – – 1,967,515 30,363,169 8,756,124
NAFTRANS LTD, LIMASSOL, CYPRUS REDEEMABLE  22,000,000 25,605,800 – – – – – – 1,425,587 22,000,000 24,180,213
             
Sub-total unlisted investments at fair value through profit or loss   36,329,439 – – – – – – 3,393,102 32,936,337
FORWARD FOREIGN EXCHANGE CONTRACTS  – 124,774 218,459,142 – 224,274,073 8,416,218 – 2,601,286 705,998 – – 830,772
OCC US 10 YEARS FUTURES 21.12.2009   51,472 – – – – – – 51,472 – –
OCC US 10 YEARS FUTURES 22.03.11  – 259 54,188 26,435,736 – 23,919,289 10,703,120 – 13,219,567 – – 139,660 – 202 – 85,472
OCC US 2 YEARS FUTURES 31.03.11     2,967,566 – 2,962,177 35,170 – 40,559 – – 3,473 – 14 – 3,473
OCC US 5 YEARS FUTURES 31.03.11  – 30 7,966 16,298,168 – 16,136,720 1,741,312 – 1,902,759 – – 49,403 – 142 – 41,436

             
Sub-total derivative financial instruments  – 289 238,400 264,160,612 – 267,292,259 20,895,820 – 17,764,172 705,998 – 244,008 – 358 700,391
Total investments   109,237,665 272,013,943 – 268,986,494 21,058,961 – 17,764,172 3,153,510 – 9,829,821 108,883,592
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5.1 Details of investments at fair value through profit or loss

Securities, Bonds and Fixed Income  Balance as of 01.01.2010 Movement in period (CHF) Realised (CHF) Changes in fair value (CHF) Balance as of 31.12.2010

  Quantity CHF Purchases and Additions Sales and Withdrawals Gains Losses Gains Losses Quantity CHF

MOSCOW UNITED ELECTRICITY DISTRIBUTION  12,313,327 498,431 – – – – 76,478 – 12,313,327 574,909
RAO EASTERN ENERGY SYSTEM JSC  18,400,000 231,426 – – – – – 4,247 18,400,000 227,179
RAO EASTERN ENERGY SYSTEM JSC PREFERENCE SHARES  6,400,000 24,727 – – – – 50,728 – 6,400,000 75,455
FEDERAL GRID COMPANY OF UES OJSC  10,173,273 111,072 – – – – 4,826 – 10,173,273 115,898
INTERNATIONAL DISTRIBUTION GRID COMPANY OF VOLGA HOLDING  20,900,000 2,355,043 – – – – 1,087,074 – 20,900,000 3,442,116
INTERNATIONAL DISTRIBUTION GRID COMPANY OF VOLGA HOLDING PREF. SHARES  6,400,000 381,321 – – – – 290,967 – 6,400,000 672,288
INTER RAO UES JSC  215,675,995 354,768 – – – – – 35,427 215,675,995 319,341
KUZBASSENERGO JSC  16,961,051 152,161 – – – – 56,261 – 16,961,051 208,422
MOSCOW POWER JSC (MOSENERGO)  50 5 – – – – 1 – 50 5
FEDERAL HYDROGENERATION COMPANY JSC  32,708,755 1,267,542  – – – 379,085 – 32,708,775 1,646,627
TERRITORIAL GENERATION COMPANY NO 1 OJSC  927,579,908 505,164 – – – – 101,253 – 927,579,908 606,417
TERRITORIAL GENERATION COMPANY NO 2 OJSC  314,979,184 69,042 – – – – 16,931 – 314,979,184 85,973
QUADRA POWER GENERATION JGC  23,263,819 9,585 – – – – 1,277 – 23,263,819 10,862
TERRITORIAL GENERATION COMPANY NO 6 OJSC  71,823,486 23,971 – – – – 13,471 – 71,823,486 37,442
VOLZHSKAYA TERRITORIAL GENERATION COMPANY OJSC (TGC 7)(Sold 15.03.10)  146,011 6,016 – – 7,345 1,329 – – – – –
TERRITORIAL GENERATION COMPANY NO 9 OJSC  133,615,552 11,010 – – – – 13,944 – 133,615,552 24,954
TERRITORIAL GENERATION COMPANY NO 11 HOLDING OJSC  6,100,000 7,980 –  – 42,427 – 18,400,000 50,407
TERRITORIAL GENERATION COMPANY NO 11 HOLDING OJSC PREF. SHARES  6,400,000 2,719 – – – – 14,074 – 6,400,000 16,793
ENISEYSKA TERRITORY GENERATION COMPANY (TGC 13)  49 – – – – – – – – –
FIRST GENERATION COMPANY OF WHOLESALE ELECTRICITY MARKET OJSC (WGC-1)  – – 543,712 – – – – – 13,071,717 543,712
FIRST GENERATION COMPANY OF WHOLESALE ELECTRICITY MARKET OJSC (WGC-1) (new)  23,339,695 583,100  – – – 284,905 – 23,339,695 868,004
EASTERN PROPERTY HOLDINGS LTD.  493,000 15,995,385 – – – – – 4,716,482 493,000 11,278,904
VTB CAPITAL SA 15 %, 04/19 BOND  10,000,000 348,160 – – 357,000 8,840 – – – – –
MAGNIT FINANCE LLC 8.2 %, 03/12, BOND  10,000,000 320,536 – – – – – – 14,382 10,000,000 306,154
LUKOIL OAO JSC 13.5 %, 06/10, BOND  10,000,000 348,798 – – 374,000 25,203 – – – – –
RUSSIAN RAILWAYS 9.4 %, 12/12, BOND  29,700,000 1,017,374 – – – – – 65,566 29,700,000 951,807
VALARTIS RUSSIA & CIS FIXED INCOME FUND  250,000 3,208,450 – – – – 8,491 – 250,000 3,216,941
GAZ CAPITAL 9.25 %, 04/19, BOND  3,000,000 3,478,568 1,931,026 – – – – – 241,010 4,500,000 5,168,583
TNK - BP FINANCE SA 6.625 %, 03/17, BOND  4,500,000 4,549,484 – – – – – – 11,216 4,500,000 4,538,268
VTB CAPITAL SA 7.5 %, 08/11, BOND  10,000,000 10,350,000 – – – – – – 54,000 10,000,000 10,296,000
VTB CAPITAL SA 6.465 %, 03/15, BOND     1,065,300 – – – – – 96,436 1,000,000 968,864
LITHUANIAN REPUBLIC 6.75 %, 01/15, BOND  1,800,000 1,903,873 – – – – – – 80,077 1,800,000 1,823,795
LITHUANIAN REPUBLIC 7.375 %, 02/20, BOND     254,318 – – – 4,811 – 250,000 259,130
LUKOIL INTL FINANCE B.V. 7.25 %, 11/19, BOND  5,000,000 5,201,500 – – – – – – 100,618 5,000,000 5,100,883
LUKOIL INTL FINANCE B.V. 6.375 %, 11/14, BOND  5,000,000 5,315,830 – – – – – – 319,393 5,000,000 4,996,437
TNK - BP FINANCE 7.25 %, 02/20, BOND  – – 254,292 – – – – – 278 250,000 254,015
TMK 5.25% BONDS  – – 828,120 – 955,889 127,769 – – – –
SBERBANK (SB CAP SA) 5.4%, 03/17,  BONDS  – – 2,976,562 – – – – – 182,026 3,000,000 2,794,537
TNK - BP FINANCE 7.5 %, 07/16, BOND  4,500,000 4,767,329 – – – – – – 92,493 4,500,000 4,674,836
LUKOIL INTL FINANCE B.V. 6.356 %, 06/17, BOND  1,500,000 1,528,469 – – – – – – 60,871 1,500,000 1,467,597
LUKOIL INTL FINANCE B.V. 6.656 %, 06/22, BOND  3,000,000 2,961,611 – – – – – – 118,190 3,000,000 2,843,421
TNK - BP FINANCE 7.875 %, 03/18, BOND  4,500,000 4,779,380 – – – – 509 – 4,500,000 4,779,889
             
Sub-total listed investments at fair value through profit or loss   72,669,826 7,853,331 – 1,694,234 163,141 – 2,447,512 – 6,192,711 75,246,865
NAFTRANS LTD, LIMASSOL, CYPRUS  9,213,540 10,723,639 – – – – – – 1,967,515 30,363,169 8,756,124
NAFTRANS LTD, LIMASSOL, CYPRUS REDEEMABLE  22,000,000 25,605,800 – – – – – – 1,425,587 22,000,000 24,180,213
             
Sub-total unlisted investments at fair value through profit or loss   36,329,439 – – – – – – 3,393,102 32,936,337
FORWARD FOREIGN EXCHANGE CONTRACTS  – 124,774 218,459,142 – 224,274,073 8,416,218 – 2,601,286 705,998 – – 830,772
OCC US 10 YEARS FUTURES 21.12.2009   51,472 – – – – – – 51,472 – –
OCC US 10 YEARS FUTURES 22.03.11  – 259 54,188 26,435,736 – 23,919,289 10,703,120 – 13,219,567 – – 139,660 – 202 – 85,472
OCC US 2 YEARS FUTURES 31.03.11     2,967,566 – 2,962,177 35,170 – 40,559 – – 3,473 – 14 – 3,473
OCC US 5 YEARS FUTURES 31.03.11  – 30 7,966 16,298,168 – 16,136,720 1,741,312 – 1,902,759 – – 49,403 – 142 – 41,436

             
Sub-total derivative financial instruments  – 289 238,400 264,160,612 – 267,292,259 20,895,820 – 17,764,172 705,998 – 244,008 – 358 700,391
Total investments   109,237,665 272,013,943 – 268,986,494 21,058,961 – 17,764,172 3,153,510 – 9,829,821 108,883,592
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5.2 Naftrans Limited
Naftrans Limited ("Naftrans"), through its subsidiaries, operated the Batumi oil terminal in Adjaria, 
Georgia on the Black Sea coast. It provided oil and oil related product rail forwarding (transported oil 
from Gardabani on the Azerbaijan – Georgia border to the Batumi oil terminal) and transshipment and 
storage of these products at the Batumi port. Later, Naftrans also acquired control of the Batumi Port. 

During the period 2003 to 2006 ENR invested USD 30 million in Naftrans. Subsequently Naftrans sold 
all its Georgian based operations to the KazMunaiGas group for cash. ENR received a special dividend 
of USD 10 million from the sale proceeds and, as part of the distribution arrangements, a further USD 
21.311 million from Naftrans as an interest free shareholders’ loan. This loan would only have be repay-
able if valid KazMunaiGas group claims under warranties given pursuant to the sale transaction had 
exceeded USD 100 million. No valid KazMunaiGas group warranty claims were received. 

Naftrans then commenced with a process to dispose of its remaining assets and to recover an out-
standing debt. Eventually Naftrans and the debtor concluded a settlement agreement for the recovery 
of the outstanding debt. Consequently, via settlement proceeds and proceeds to be generated from the 
sale of remaining Naftrans assets, ENR should receive some USD 13.96 million from Naftrans over time, 
being the remaining balance ENR was entitled to under the KazMunaiGas transaction. 

During second half of 2010, Naftrans received the first payment under the settlement agreement and 
then made a distribution to its shareholders. For technical reasons (loan distributions were used as 
Naftrans did not have sufficient distributable profits to use dividends as means of distribution to its 
shareholders) this was done via shareholder loans which are only repayable at the election of the bor-
rower. ENR received USD 6'797'867 in cash, representing a meaningful portion of the aforementioned 
USD 13.96 million. 

Both the USD 21.311 million and USD 6'797'867 shareholder loans, despite not having to be repaid to 
Naftrans and not carrying interest, are still shown under accounts payable in ENR's books. This is a 
conservative accounting approach. These loans will no longer be shown as accounts payable once Naf-
trans completed the capital reduction mentioned below and/or updated its accounts to show none of 
these loans are payable to it. The remaining USD 7.16 million balance, being the net book value attribut-
able to Naftrans, should be generated from further settlement proceeds and the sale of the only re-
maining Naftrans asset.

As part of the settlement arrangements and due to the transaction structure, the former Naftrans 
managing shareholder and another small shareholder transferred all their Naftrans shares to the three 
remaining shareholders. This resulted in an increase in ENR’s shareholding in Naftrans. The increase in 
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shareholding did not change the economic situation as ENR remains entitled to USD 7.16 million. 
Naftrans has initiated a capital reduction process to remove all non-repayable loans from its balance 
sheet. As part of this process, some of ENR's shares in Naftrans will be cancelled. This will also not 
change the economic situation as ENR will still be entitled to the USD 7.16 million.

At 31 December 2010 the fair value of the Naftrans investment was based on the initial KazMunaiGas 
transaction value, adjusted to reflect what ENR had received from this sale and the aforementioned 
USD 6'797'867 receipt. Therefore, the carrying value of this investment reflects what ENR expects to 
still receive from settlement proceeds and proceeds from the sale of a remaining Naftrans asset. The 
valuation of Naftrans is based on a management judgment and bears inherent uncertainties due to the 
absence of a liquid market. The realisation of these proceeds is uncertain and depends on future devel-
opments which may materially impact the expected amounts. During the reporting period, the Naftrans 
net book value was also impacted by movements in the CHF/USD rate as ENR’s reporting currency is in 
Swiss Francs and the investment is based in USD. At 31 December 2009 the USD/CHF exchange rate was 
1.03. The USD weakened against the CHF and at year-end the exchange rate was USD/CHF 0.9352. As a 
result, the decrease in gross value of the investment from CHF 36.3 million to CHF 32.9 million reflects 
the unrealised exchange loss on the Naftrans investment of CHF 3.4 million - see table under note 5.1.

5.3 Fixed income instruments
ENR has acquired a range of local and foreign currency fixed income instruments issued by Russian 
corporates and sovereign bonds of the Lithuanian government. In the reporting period, CHF 7.31 million 
was deployed to acquire fixed income instruments. All fixed instruments save for one have investment 
ratings of “BBB” from Standard & Poor’s ratings services. The exception is a RUB denominated fixed 
Magnit fixed income instrument which is not rated. Fixed income instruments are denominated in USD, 
RUB and CHF. Details of fixed income instruments are set out in the table under note 5.1. At year-end, 
the aggregate fair value attributed to fixed income instruments was CHF 51.22 million (excluding Valar-
tis & CIS Fixed Income Fund – see note 5.6 below).

5.4 Shares in Russian electricity companies
Pursuant to the 2008 unbundling of the Russian electricity company Unified Energy Systems (“UES”), 
ENR holds shares in electricity companies covering a range of market and geographical segments in the 
Russian electricity sector. ENR, during the reporting period, disposed of its interest in Volzhskaya Ter-
ritorial Generation Company OJSC (TGK 7) realising CHF 7’345. It used CHF 543'712 to participate in a 
rights offering of First Generation Company of Wholesale Electricity Market OJSC ("OGK-1"). The fair 
value at year-end of all these shares is based on last available closing prices at December 31, 2010 and 
the cost price of the aforementioned OGK-1 shares as they were only listed in January 2011. At Decem-
ber 31, 2010, the aggregate value of ENR’s shares of electricity sector companies was valued at CHF 
9.53 million.
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5.5 Eastern Property Holdings Limited

EPH is a Russian focused real estate development company listed on the SIX Swiss Exchange. In the 
first half of 2009, EPH was trading at a meaningful discount (still the case) to its net asset value and 
ENR increased its position in EPH by CHF 4.65 million. Fair value at December 31, 2010 attributed to 
the shares was based on the market price of the EPH shares at this date and amounted to CHF 11.28 
million.

5.6 Valartis Russia & CIS Fixed Income Fund

In 2009 ENR made a USD 2.5 million subscription in the Valartis Russia & CIS Fixed Income Fund. The 
fund seeks total returns through investments in fixed income securities in Russia and other members 
of the CIS seeking both capital appreciation and income through an active strategy, depending on the 
global and local environments and opportunities in the market. The investment manager selects fixed 
income securities issued by companies, federal, municipal, regional governments and agencies that 
enjoy both high yields as well as a potential for capital appreciation, experiencing fundamental credit 
improvement and have a positive outlook. There are two classes of shares in the fund. During 2009 ENR 
switched share classes to optimise its position. Fair value at December 31, 2010 attributed to the shares 
was based on the closing NAV of the fund and the value of ENR’s investment in the fund was CHF 3.22 
million.

6 Cash and cash equivalents
This comprises cash at bank and in hand and short-term deposits with an original maturity of three 
months or less.

in CHF     

 31.12.2010 31.12.2009

 Valartis Bank* Others Valartis Bank* Others

  Cash at bank and in hand 19,400,281 2,365,144 14,115,617 417,177
  Money market instruments  2,208,755 – 4,126,608
 Cash and cash equivalents 19,400,281 4,573,898 14,115,617 4,543,785
Total cash and cash equivalents  23,974,180 18,659,402

*Valartis Bank is a group-related party  
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7 Accounts receivable

in CHF   

 31.12.2010 31.12.2009

 Accrued interest 890,948 841,492
 Receivable from Naftrans Ltd – 695,645
 Other 74,396 211,040
Total receivables 965,344 1,748,177

8 Liabilities
8.1 Accounts payable and accrued expenses

in CHF   

  31.12.2010 31.12.2009

 Management fees 1,349,791 434,985
 Naftrans Limited (see note 5.2) 26,157,331 21,980,171
 Other creditors 562,494 553,137
Balance at the end of the period 28,069,615 22,968,293

8.2 Taxes
The Company pays Swiss taxes on its capital of 0.07 % (2009: 0.07 %). The Cyprus subsidiary is subject 
to corporation tax on taxable profits at a rate of 10% in 2010 (10% in 2009). Under certain conditions, 
interest may be subject to a defence contribution at the rate of 10% (then 50% of such interest will be 
exempt from corporation tax). In certain cases dividends received from abroad may be subject to a 
defence contribution at the rate of 15%. Net income from the Cayman Islands subsidiary is not taxed. 
No deferred taxes are calculated on unrealised gains on securities as they are tax exempt in the corre-
sponding jurisdictions.

in CHF   

  31.12.2010 31.12.2009

Balance at beginning of period 530,430 530,195
  Payment during the period – 39,807 – 60,491
  Reversal of provisions – 250,000 –
  Charge for the period 19,987 60,726
 Balance at the end of the period 260,610 530,430
     
(Loss) / profit before tax – 653,629 9,723,938
  Tax calculated at domestic tax rates applicable to profits in the respective countries 25,064 224,254
  Deduction for income not subject to tax – 25,064 – 224,254
 Income tax charges – –
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9 Share capital
As of December 31, 2010 the issued and authorised ordinary share capital of the Company was CHF 
32.8 million (31.12.2009: CHF 32.8 million), divided into 2,644,402 (31.12.2009: 2,644,402) bearer shares 
with a par value of CHF 12.40 (31.12.2009: CHF 12.40) each and one voting right per share. There are no 
restrictions on share transfers.

Article 11 of the Company’s Articles of Association contains an “Opting Out” clause regarding matters 
dealt with in article 32 of SESTA and waives the requirement to make a public tender offer whenever a 
shareholder acquires shares exceeding the threshold of 33 1/3 %, conversely 49 %, of the voting rights.

9.1 Issued capital
   31.12.2010 31.12.2009

Issued Capital Number of shares CHF Number of shares CHF

 Opening balance 2,644,402 32,790,585 2,644,402 32,790,585
Closing balance 2,644,402 32,790,585 2,644,402 32,790,585

9.2 Treasury stock
   31.12.2010 31.12.2009

  Number of shares Number of shares

 Opening balance  47,000 47,000
Closing balance  47,000 47,000
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9.3 Conditional and authorised capital
Article 8 of the Company’s Articles of Association provides for a conditional capital pursuant to which 
the Company’s share capital may be increased through the exercise of options or conversion rights up 
to a maximum amount of CHF 9,985,806.80 through the issue of a maximum of 805,307 bearer shares 
with a par value of CHF 12.40 each.

Article 8 of the Company’s Articles of Association authorised the Board, until 8 November 2009, to in-
crease the Company’s share capital, in one or several blocks, by a maximum nominal amount of CHF 
8,313,766.00, through the issue of a maximum of 670,465 fully paid bearer shares with a par value of 
CHF 12.40 each.

As of December 31, 2010, the Company has no authorised capital.

Existing shareholders have no preferential subscription rights with regards to the conditional capital.

   31.12.2010 31.12.2009

Conditional and Authorised Capital Number of shares CHF Number of shares CHF

 Conditional capital 805,307 9,985,807 805,307 9,985,807
 Authorised increase of capital – – 670,465 8,313,766
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10 Related Transactions
10.1 Valartis International Ltd. 
Valartis International Ltd. (a wholly owned subsidiary of Valartis Group AG, Baar, Switzerland) is the 
Investment Manager of the Company. Based on contractual terms, the Company pays to the Investment 
Manager a management fee payable quarterly in arrears in Swiss Francs of 2% (plus VAT if applicable) 
per annum of the Company’s average Attributable NAV, as adjusted by adding back the amount of any 
outstanding debt issued by the Company or by any of its subsidiaries or affiliates that is convertible 
into or exchangeable for shares of the Company.

Considering that another Valartis group subsidiary acts as investment manager of EPH, this investment 
is not taken into account for purposes of the calculation of management fees. 

As the Valartis Russia & CIS Fixed Income Fund is managed by another Valartis group  entity and that 
the ENR Investment Manager forms part of the Valartis group, ENR does not pay management fees to 
its Investment Manager on the value of the position held in this fund.

Out-of-pocket expenses incurred by the Investment Manager in carrying out the investigative and “due 
diligence” analysis required in pursuing likely investment opportunities and in monitoring existing in-
vestments, based on contractual terms, are borne by the Company.

In addition, based on contractual terms, the Investment Manager is entitled to receive a performance 
fee equal to 17.5% (plus VAT if applicable) of the total net profits (sale proceeds less acquisition costs 
and transaction costs) realised by the Company on such investment in the event of a sale, another form 
of disposal or a refinancing of an investment held by the Company, provided the annual hurdle rate of 
8% has been reached by the Company.

in CHF   

Management fees 31.12.2010 31.12.2009

  Management fees for the period 1,831,300 1,666,472
 Balance payable at the end of the period 1,349,791 434,985
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10.2 Directors’ fees

in CHF   

 31.12.2010 31.12.2009

 W. Fetscherin 50,000 50,000
 M. Amunts 25,000 –
Total 75,000 50,000

Dr. Walter Fetscherin and Dr. Dmitry Amunts do not own shares in the Company. Mr. Gustav Stenbolt 
indirectly holds 541’275 shares in the Company.

10.3 Significant shareholders as of December 31, 2010
Valartis Bank AG, Zürich, Valartis Group AG, Valartis International Ltd and MCT Global Opportunities 
Fund, Grand-Cayman jointly own 55.88% (1,451,501 shares) of the outstanding share capital (issued 
shares minus treasury shares) of the Company.

Paramount-Finanz AG owns 34.37% (892,703 shares) of the outstanding share capital (issued shares 
minus treasury shares) of the Company.

10.4 Other
Valartis International Ltd. holds a 6.88 % economic interest in Panariello Enterprises Ltd. governed by a 
sub-participation agreement between ENR Investment Ltd. and Valartis International Ltd. dated May 7, 
2003.

Gustav Stenbolt is a board member of MCG Holding SA, the majority shareholder of the Valartis group 
and he is also a member of the Investment Committee and an ENR Board member.
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11 Segment reporting
Since the Company only has one sector of business activity and one geographical sector, the break-
down by segment does not apply.

12 Risk assessment
An extensive overview of the risk factors that the Group is faced with, is included seperately in the an-
nual report. The Board, in cooperation with the Investment Manager, assesses the potential impact of 
these risk factors on the financial performance of the Group and implements risk management policies 
accordingly. Certain risk factors, e.g. portfolio concentration and hedging policies regarding currency 
exposure, are dealt with in the investment guidelines, which provide the general framework under 
which the Group’s operations are carried out.

On a day-to-day basis the Investment Manager has operational responsibility for the Group, including 
the risk management functions. This role is performed under the overview of the Board.

The Board, supported by the Investment Manager, performs a review of the potential risk factors, 
 including those that arise from the accounting and financial reporting, and assess their potential 
 impact on the Group’s operations no less frequently than annually. Throughout the internal control 
system framework on financial reporting relevant control measures are defined, which reduce the 
 financial risk. Should the risk environment change substantially, measures are taken on the level of the 
Board to alleviate such risks, including updating relevant risk management policies.
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13 Subsequent events
On April 11, 2011 ENR Investment Limited ("ENR Investment"), a subsidiary of the Company, concluded 
a partnership agreement with AJ Prospect Limited ("Prospect"), a credit management services company 
that has strong ties with Russia and leading debt collection platforms in the market. ENR Investment 
Limited and Prospect will source and review a wide array of non-performing loan ("NPL") portfolio ac-
quisition opportunities. ENR Investment Limited intends to invest USD 15 million to acquire NPL's from 
banks and other lending institutions in Russia. Prospect will arrange for the necessary debt collection 
services to maximise the NPL portfolio value.
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Independent Auditor’s report
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 Note 31.12.2010 31.12.2009

Assets    
 Current assets    
  Cash and cash equivalents  3,343,348 5,469,104
  Investments - current  1,558,050 1,269,000
  Accounts receivable  74,396 164,670
  Receivable from subsidiaries  29,496,171 20,288,116
 Total current assets  34,471,965 27,190,890
      
 Non-current assets    
  Investments - non-current  20,000,615 20,000,615
 Total non-current assets  20,000,615 20,000,615
      
 Total assets  54,472,580 47,191,505
      
      
Liabilities    
  Provision for taxes  10,610 30,430
  Accrued expenses  1,867,533 513,759
  Payable to subsidiaries  1,429,500 5,110,965
 Total liabilities  3,307,643 5,655,154
      
Shareholders’ Equity    
  Share capital 2 32,790,585 32,790,585
  Capital paid in excess of par value (share premium) 2 15,482,734 15,482,734
  Treasury stock reserve 2 1,552,228 1,552,228
  Retained gains / (losses) 2 1,339,390 – 8,289,196
 Total shareholders’ equity  51,164,937 41,536,351
      
 Total liabilities and shareholders’ equity  54,472,580 47,191,505

  

Parent Company balance sheet as at December 31, 2010 
(Currency-CHF)
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Parent Company income statement and retained gains/losses for the years ended  
December 31
(Currency-CHF)

    
 Notes 2010 2009

Revenue    
  Interest income  762,936 112,920
  Dividend 4 12,526,830 –
  Gain on investments  282,746 69,882
 Total revenue  13,572,512 182,802
      
Expenses    
  Management fees  1,831,300 1,666,472
  Administrative fees  107,500 100,003
  Investment bank and professional fees  565,677 185,393
  Directors’ fees and expenses  89,413 41,702
  Travel expenses  85,328 –
  Publication, marketing and other expenses  267,396 88,501
  Bank charges and interest expenses  6,744 12,224
  Exchange loss  970,581 248,020
  Taxes  19,987 47,097
 Total expenses  3,943,926 2,389,412
      
 Gains / (losses) for the period  9,628,586 – 2,206,610
      
Retained earnings  2010 2009

  Retained losses at the beginning of the period  – 8,289,196 – 6,082,586
  Net gains / (losses) for the period  9,628,586 – 2,206,610
 Retained gains / (losses) at the end of the year  1,339,390 – 8,289,196

  

103



Notes to the parent company financial statements as of December 31 
These notes are an extract of the notes to the consolidated financial statements and should be read in conjunction with them.

1 Controlled subsidiaries
The subsidiaries of ENR are described in note 3.2 to the Consolidated Financial Statements.

2 Share capital
As of December 31, 2010 the issued ordinary share capital of the Company was CHF 32.8 million 
(31.12.2009: CHF 32.8 million), divided into 2,644,402 (31.12.2009: 2,644,402) bearer shares with a par 
value of CHF 12.40 (31.12.2009: CHF 12.40) each and one voting right per share. There are no restric-
tions on share transfers.

2.1 Movements in shareholders’ equity of the parent company
      
 Share capital Share premium Treasury stock Retained earnings Total

Balance as at December 31, 2009 32,790,585 15,482,734 1,552,228 – 8,289,196 41,536,351
       
 Net result for the year – – – 9,628,586 9,628,586
Balance as at December 31, 2010 32,790,585 15,482,734 1,552,228 1,339,390 51,164,937

  

2.2 Conditional and authorised capital
Article 8 of the Company’s Articles of Association provides for a conditional capital pursuant to which 
the Company’s share capital may be increased by the exercise of option or conversion rights up to  
a maximum amount of CHF 9,985,806.80 through the issue of a maximum of 805,307 bearer shares  
of par value of CHF 12.40 each.

Article 8 of the Company’s Articles of Association authorised the Board, until 8 November 2009, to in-
crease the Company’s share capital, in one or several blocks, by a maximum nominal amount of CHF 
8,313,766.00, through the issue of a maximum of 670,465 fully paid bearer shares with a par value of 
CHF 12.40 each.

As at December 31, 2010, the Company has no authorised capital.

   31.12.2010 31.12.2009

Conditional and Authorised Capital Number of shares CHF Number of shares CHF

 Conditional capital 805,307 9,985,807 805,307 9,985,807
 Authorised increase of capital – – 670,465 8,313,766
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3 Risk assessment
The company is fully integrated into the group wide risk assessment process. For details, refer to note 
3.8 of the Consolidated Financial Statements.

4. Dividends received
Included in the total dividend of CHF 12'526'830 for the 2010 financial year, an amount of CHF 4'137'634 
was declared after the December 31, 2010 year-end.

5. Remuneration of the board of directors

in CHF   

 31.12.2010 31.12.2009

 W. Fetscherin 50,000 50,000
 M. Amunts 25,000 –
Total 75,000 50,000

6. Carry forward of retained earnings
The Board will recommend to the annual general meeting of shareholders of the Company that the re-
tained earnings should be carried forward to the next financial year. 

7. Treasury Stock

   31.12.2010 31.12.2009

  Number of shares Number of shares

 Opening balance  47,000 47,000
Closing balance  47,000 47,000

8. Significant shareholders as of December 31, 2010
Refer to note 10.3 of the consolidated annual financial statements for information on significant 
shareholders. 
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Price information

in CHF   

Date
Attributable Net  
Assets (millions)

Attributable NAV  
per share Share price

 31.12.2008 97.6 36.93 26.00
 31.03.2009 97.8 36.97 24.00
 30.06.2009 100.9 38.17 27.40
 30.09.2009 108.2 40.93 27.75
 31.12.2009 107.4 40.64 27.00
 31.03.2010 112.2 42.42 27.65
 30.06.2010 107.6 40.72 30.80
 30.09.2010 101.9 38.52 28.60
 31.12.2010 107.0 40.49 33.45
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1. Investment Objective

To invest in private and public companies in 
Russia and other CIS countries and in the Baltic 
States and to assist portfolio companies to grow 
turnover and to improve margins and generate 
long term capital returns on invested capital. 

2. Investment Policy

The investment philosophy is growth-oriented 
and the focus is primarily on longer term capital 
appreciation. However, from time to time there 
may be certain investments which have a short-
er investment horizon, reflecting specific market 
opportunities.

3. Investment Object

Investments will be done primarily through eq-
uity and/or equity related and/or debt instru-
ments in companies operating in Russia, other 
members of the CIS and the Baltic States.

The Company will seek to have an influence on 
the management of portfolio companies and, 
where possible, take up board positions, whilst 
ensuring that minority interests are adequately 
protected.

The Company may place part of its assets in 
temporary investments for cash management 
purposes, in order to maximise interim returns 
on cash and to meet its operational expenses. 

The Company, where its capital resources have 
not been fully invested, may take temporary  
defensive positions if the Investment Manager 
determines either that opportunities for capital 
appreciation are limited at that time or that sig-
nificant diminutions in value may occur. Tempo-
rary investments include cash investments as 
well as debt and money market instruments is-
sued by governments, financial institutions or 
companies, where these investments will be de-
nominated in the currency of the relevant CIS 
country and/or Baltic State or any freely con-
vertible currency.

The Company may seek from time to time to 
hedge all or a portion of its risks or its invest-
ments through the defensive use of derivative 
transactions, including, but not limited to,  
futures, options, swaps or any combination 
thereof.

The Company and/or its subsidiaries may from 
time to time make use of various forms of lever-
age in a manner commensurate with reasonable 
risk management in order to achieve its invest-
ment objective on an investment-by-investment 
basis.

The Company may also from time to time im-
pose further investment restrictions, as are 
compatible with or in the interest of investors 
or, in certain circumstances, to comply with the 
laws and regulations in Russia, other CIS coun-
tries or the Baltic States.

Investment Guidelines
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4. Investment Process and Selection

Factors considered
Factors taken into consideration when analysing 
potential investments include:

• market positioning and competitive 
advantages;

• strength, depth and commitment of the 
management team;

• possibility to make a qualified influence  
to the management and contribute to the 
future growth of the company;

• existence of a coherent and realistic long 
term business plan;

• valuation and relevant asset values;
• corporate governance issues; and
• minority protections via shareholder and/or 

any other relevant agreement(s).

Process
Investment opportunities are identified and an-
alysed by the Investment Manager or its dele-
gates or agents within the framework of these 
Investment Guidelines. The Investment Manager 
or its delegates or agents will manage the 
screening process and, inter alia, conduct inter-
views with management and owners with the 
objective of aligning differing interests. The In-
vestment Manager’s responsibilities include val-
uations, market analyses, competition analyses, 
debt capacity calculations, bid tactics, tax opti-
mizing holding structures, financing structures, 
raising of debt finance, management incentives, 
personnel reinforcements required, due dili-
gence processes and the intended exit strategy.

Day-to-day investment decisions will be made 
solely by the Investment Committee, appointed 
by the Investment Manager in accordance with 
the Investment Guidelines as determined by  
the Board. The Investment Guidelines may be 
amended by the Board at any time, in whole or 
in part. Amendments will become effective upon 
their approval by the Board. The Company may 
from time to time impose further investment re-
strictions, compatible with or in the interest of 
investors, or, in certain circumstances, in order 
to comply with relevant country laws and 
regulations.

5. Investment Restriction

The Company may not, at the time of the invest-
ment, hold more than 20 % of its net asset value 
in any one investment.

Resolved by the Board on November 15, 2007
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